# The Torelli locus and special subvarieties

# Ben Moonen and Frans Oort

**Abstract.** We study the Torelli locus  $\mathsf{T}_g$  in the moduli space  $\mathsf{A}_g$  of abelian varieties. We consider special subvarieties (Shimura subvarieties) contained in the Torelli locus. We review the construction of some non-trivial examples, and we discuss some conjectures, techniques and recent progress.

# **Contents**

	0.1 Notation	552			
1	The Torelli morphism	552			
	1.1 Moduli of abelian varieties	552			
	1.2 Moduli of curves	554			
	1.3 The Torelli morphism and the Torelli locus	554			
2	Some abstract Hodge theory				
	2.1 Basic definitions	555			
	2.2 Hodge classes and Mumford-Tate groups	557			
	2.3 Hodge loci	558			
3	Special subvarieties of A <sub>g</sub> , and the André-Oort conjecture				
	3.1 Shimura varieties	560			
	3.2 The description of $A_g$ as a Shimura variety	561			
	3.3 Special subvarieties	563			
	3.4 Basic properties of special subvarieties	566			
4	Special subvarieties in the Torelli locus	568			
	4.1 A modified version of Coleman's Conjecture	570			
	4.2 Results of Hain	571			
	4.3 Results of Ciliberto, van der Geer and Teixidor i Bigas	572			
	4.4 Excluding certain special subvarieties of PEL type	573			
	4.5 The Schottky problem	574			
5	Examples of special subvarieties in the Torelli locus				
	5.1 Families of cyclic covers	576			
	5.2 Calculating the dimension of $S(\mu_m)$	579			
	5.3 An inventory of known special subvarieties in the Torelli locus	581			

2000 Mathematics Subject Classification. Primary 14G35, 14H, 14K; Secondary: 11G. Key words and phrases. Curves and their Jacobians, Torelli locus, Shimura varieties.

	5.4 Excluding further examples	581
6	Some questions	583
	6.1 Non-PEL Shimura curves for $g = 4$	584
	6.2 The Serre-Tate formal group structure and linearity properties	587
	6.3 An analogy	589

#### Introduction

# The Torelli morphism

An algebraic curve C has a Jacobian  $J_C = \operatorname{Pic}^0(C)$ , which comes equipped with a canonical principal polarization  $\lambda\colon J_C \xrightarrow{\sim} J_C^t$ . The dimension of  $J_C$  equals the genus g of the curve. One should like to understand  $J_C$  knowing certain properties of C, and, conversely, we like to obtain information about C from properties of  $J_C$  or the pair  $(J_C, \lambda)$ .

As an important tool for this we have the moduli spaces of algebraic curves and of polarized abelian varieties. The construction that associates to C the principally polarized abelian variety  $(J_C, \lambda)$  defines a morphism

$$j: M_a \rightarrow A_a$$
,

the *Torelli morphism*, which by a famous theorem of Torelli is injective on geometric points. (Here we work with the coarse moduli schemes.) The image  $\mathsf{T}_g^\circ := \mathsf{j}(\mathsf{M}_g)$  is called the (open) Torelli locus, also called the Jacobi locus. Its Zariski closure  $\mathsf{T}_g$  inside  $\mathsf{A}_g$  is called the *Torelli locus*. We should like to study the interplay between curves and their Jacobians using the geometry of  $\mathsf{M}_g$  and of  $\mathsf{A}_g$ , and relating these via the inclusion  $\mathsf{T}_g \subset \mathsf{A}_g$ .

# Special subvarieties

Although the moduli spaces  $M_g$  and  $A_g$  have been studied extensively, it turns out that there are many basic questions that are still open. The moduli space  $A_g$  locally has a group-like structure, in a sense that can be made precise. As a complex manifold,  $A_g(\mathbb{C})$  is a quotient of the Siegel space, which is a principally homogeneous space under the group  $CSp_{2g}(\mathbb{R})$ . Hence it is natural to study subvarieties that appear as images of orbits of an algebraic subgroup; such a subvariety is called a *special subvariety*. (We refer to Section 3 for a more precise definition of this notion.)

The zero dimensional special subvarieties are precisely the CM points, corresponding to abelian varieties where  $\operatorname{End}(A) \otimes \mathbb{Q}$  contains a commutative semi-simple algebra of rank  $2 \cdot \dim(A)$ . These are fairly well understood. The arithmetical properties of CM points form a rich and beautiful subject, that plays an important role in the study of the moduli space. The presence of a dense set of CM points enabled Shimura to prove for a large class of Shimura varieties that they admit a model over

a number field. In its modern form this theory owes much to Deligne's presentation in [19] and [21], and the existence of canonical models for all Shimura varieties was established by Borovoi and Milne.

For the problems we want to discuss, the special points again play a key role. It is not hard to show that on any special subvariety of  $A_g$  over  $\mathbb C$  the special points are dense, even for the analytic topology. A conjecture by Y. André and F. Oort says that, conversely, an algebraic subvariety with a Zariski dense set of CM points is in fact a special variety. See 3.14. There is a nice analogy between this conjecture and the Manin-Mumford conjecture, proven by Raynaud, which says that an algebraic subvariety of an abelian variety that contains a Zariski dense set of torsion points is the translate of an abelian subvariety under a torsion point.

Klingler and Yafaev, using work of Ullmo and Yafaev, have announced a proof of the André-Oort conjecture under assumption of the Generalized Riemann Hypothesis for CM fields.

### Coleman's Conjecture and special subvarieties in the Torelli locus

In view of the above, it is natural to investigate the subvariety  $T_g \subset A_g$  from the perspective of special subvarieties of  $A_g$ . A conjecture by Coleman, again based on the analogy with the Manin-Mumford conjecture, says that for g > 3 there are only finitely many complex curves of genus g such that  $J_C$  is an abelian variety with CM. See 4.1.

In terms of moduli spaces, this says that for g>3 the number of special points on  $\mathsf{T}_g^\circ$  should be finite. Combining this with the André-Oort conjecture, it suggests that for large g there are no special subvarieties  $\mathsf{Z}\subset\mathsf{A}_g$  of positive dimension that are contained inside  $\mathsf{T}_g$  and meet  $\mathsf{T}_g^\circ$ ; see 4.2. We should like to point out that there is no clear evidence for this expectation, although there are several partial results in support of it. See for instance Theorem 4.6 below, which gives a weaker version of Coleman's conjecture.

As we shall explain in Section 5, Coleman's Conjecture is not true for  $g \in \{4,5,6,7\}$ . The reason is that for these genera we can find explicit families of curves such that the corresponding Jacobians trace out a special subvariety of positive dimension in  $A_g$ . All known examples of this kind, for  $g \geqslant 4$ , arise from families of abelian covers of  $\mathbb{P}^1$ , where we fix the Galois group and the local monodromies, and we vary the branch points. For cyclic covers it can be shown that, beyond the known examples, this construction gives no further families that give rise to a special subvariety in  $A_g$ ; see Theorem 5.13.

In this paper, we give a survey of what is known about special subvarieties in the Torelli locus, and we try to give the reader a feeling for the difficulties one encounters in studying these. Going further, one could ask for a complete classification of such special subvarieties  $Z \subset T_g$  for every g. We should like to point out that already for g=4 we do not have such a classification, in any sense.

# Acknowledgments

We thank Dick Hain for patiently explaining to us some details related to his paper [32].

#### 0.1. Notation

If G is a group scheme of finite type over a field k, we denote its identity component by  $G^0$ . In case k is a subfield of  $\mathbb{R}$  we write  $G(\mathbb{R})^+$  for the identity component of  $G(\mathbb{R})$  with regard to the analytic topology. If G is reductive,  $G^{ad}$  denotes the adjoint group.

The group of symplectic similitudes. Let a positive integer g be given. Write  $V:=\mathbb{Z}^{2g}$ , and let  $\varphi\colon V\times V\to \mathbb{Z}$  be the standard symplectic pairing, so that on the standard ordered basis  $\{e_i\}_{i=1,\dots,2g}$  we have  $\varphi(e_i,e_j)=0$  if  $i+j\neq 2g+1$  and  $\varphi(e_i,e_{2g+1-i})=1$  if  $i\leqslant g$ . The group  $CSp(V,\varphi)$  is the reductive group over  $\mathbb{Z}$  of symplectic similitudes of V with regard to the form  $\varphi$ . If there is no risk of confusion we simply write  $CSp_{2g}$  for this group. We denote by  $\nu\colon CSp_{2g}\to \mathbb{G}_m$  the multiplier character. The kernel of  $\nu$  is the symplectic group  $Sp_{2g}$  of transformations of V that preserve the form  $\varphi$ .

# 1. The Torelli morphism

# 1.1. Moduli of abelian varieties

Fix an integer g > 0. If S is a base scheme and A is an abelian scheme over S, we write  $A^t$  for the dual abelian scheme. There is a canonical homomorphism  $\kappa_A \colon A \to A^{tt}$ , which Cartier and Nishi proved to be an isomorphism; see [9], [10], [56]; also see [61], Theorem 20.2.

On  $A \times_S A^t$  we have a Poincaré bundle  $\mathcal{P}$ . A *polarization* of A is a symmetric isogeny  $\lambda \colon A \to A^t$  with the property that the pull-back of  $\mathcal{P}$  via the morphism  $(\mathrm{id},\lambda)\colon A \to A \times_S A^t$  is a relatively ample bundle on A over S. The polarization  $\lambda$  is said to be principal if in addition it is an isomorphism of abelian schemes over S. A pair  $(A,\lambda)$  consisting of an abelian scheme over S together with a principal polarization is called a *principally polarized abelian scheme*. We abbreviate "principally polarized abelian scheme(s)/variety/varieties" to "ppav" (sic!).

We denote by  $\mathcal{A}_g$  the moduli stack over  $\operatorname{Spec}(\mathbb{Z})$  of g-dimensional ppav. It is a connected Deligne-Mumford stack that is quasi-projective and smooth over  $\mathbb{Z}$ , of relative dimension g(g+1)/2. The characteristic zero fiber  $\mathcal{A}_{g,\mathbb{Q}}$  can be shown to be geometrically irreducible by transcendental methods; cf. subsection 3.2. Using this, Chai and Faltings have proved that the characteristic p fibers are geometrically irreducible, too; see [27], [12], and [28] Chap. IV, Corollary 6.8. A pure characteristic p proof can be obtained using the results of [64].

Note that later in this article we shall use the same notation  $\mathcal{A}_g$  for the moduli stack over some given base field.

For many purposes it is relevant to consider ppav together with a level structure. We introduce some notation and review some facts. Let again  $(A, \lambda)$  be a ppav of relative dimension g over some base scheme S. Given  $\mathfrak{m} \in \mathbb{Z}$  we have a "multiplication by  $\mathfrak{m}$ " endomorphism  $[\mathfrak{m}]\colon A \to A$ . We denote by  $A[\mathfrak{m}]$  the kernel of this endomorphism, in the scheme-theoretic sense. Assume that  $\mathfrak{m} \neq 0$ . Then  $A[\mathfrak{m}]$  is a finite locally free group scheme of rank  $\mathfrak{m}^{2g}$ . There is a naturally defined bilinear pairing

$$e_{\mathfrak{m}}^{\lambda}: A[\mathfrak{m}] \times A[\mathfrak{m}] \to \mu_{\mathfrak{m}}$$

called the Weil pairing, that is non-degenerate and that is symplectic in the sense that  $e_{\mathfrak{m}}^{\lambda}(x,x)=1$  for all S-schemes T and all T-valued points  $x\in A[\mathfrak{m}](T)$ . If  $\mathfrak{m}$  is invertible in  $\Gamma(S,O_S)$  then the group scheme  $A[\mathfrak{m}]$  is étale over S.

Fix an integer  $\mathfrak{m}\geqslant 1$ . Write  $\mathbb{Z}[\zeta_{\mathfrak{m}}]$  for  $\mathbb{Z}[t]/(\Phi_{\mathfrak{m}})$ , where  $\Phi_{\mathfrak{m}}\in \mathbb{Z}[t]$  is the  $\mathfrak{m}$ th cyclotomic polynomial. We shall first define a Deligne-Mumford stack  $\mathcal{A}'_{g,[\mathfrak{m}]}$  over the spectrum of the ring  $R_{\mathfrak{m}}:=\mathbb{Z}[\zeta_{\mathfrak{m}},1/\mathfrak{m}]$ . The moduli stack  $\mathcal{A}_{g,[\mathfrak{m}]}$  is then defined to be the same stack, but now viewed as a stack over  $\mathbb{Z}[1/\mathfrak{m}]$ , with as structural morphism the composition

$$\mathcal{A}'_{g,[m]} \to Spec(R_m) \to Spec(\mathbb{Z}[1/m])$$
.

The reason that we want to view  $\mathcal{A}_{g,[m]}$  as an algebraic stack over  $\mathbb{Z}[1/m]$  is that this is the stack whose characteristic zero fiber has a natural interpretation as a Shimura variety; see the discussion in subsection 3.2 below.

Let S be a scheme over  $R_m$ . Note that this just means that S is a scheme such that m is invertible in  $\Gamma(S, O_S)$ , and that we are given a primitive mth root of unity  $\zeta \in \Gamma(S, O_S)$ . We may view this  $\zeta$  as an isomorphism of group schemes  $\zeta \colon (\mathbb{Z}/m\mathbb{Z}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mu_m$ . Let V and  $\varphi$  be as defined in Subsection 0.1. Given a ppav  $(A, \lambda)$  of relative dimension g over S, by a *(symplectic) level* m *structure* on  $(A, \lambda)$  we then mean an isomorphism of group schemes  $\alpha \colon (V/mV) \xrightarrow{\sim} A[m]$  such that the diagram

$$\begin{array}{ccc} (V/mV)\times (V/mV) & \stackrel{\varphi}{\longrightarrow} & (\mathbb{Z}/m\mathbb{Z}) \\ & & & \downarrow^{\zeta} \\ & A[m]\times A[m] & \stackrel{e^{\lambda}_{\mathfrak{m}}}{\longrightarrow} & \mu_{\mathfrak{m}} \end{array}$$

is commutative.

We write  $\mathcal{A}'_{g,[m]}$  for the moduli stack over  $R_m$  of ppav with a level m structure. Again this is a quasi-projective smooth Deligne-Mumford stack with geometrically irreducible fibers. If  $m \geqslant 3$ , it is a scheme. The resulting stack

$$A_{g,[m]} := \left( A'_{g,[m]} \to \operatorname{Spec}(R_m) \to \operatorname{Spec}(\mathbb{Z}[1/m]) \right)$$

is a quasi-projective smooth Deligne-Mumford stack over  $\mathbb{Z}[1/m]$  whose geometric fibers have  $\varphi(m)$  irreducible components.

We now assume that  $m\geqslant 3$ . The finite group  $\mathcal{G}:=CSp_{2g}(\mathbb{Z}/m\mathbb{Z})$  acts on the stack  $\mathcal{A}'_{g,[m]}$  via its action on the level structures. Note that this is not an action over  $R_m$ ; only the subgroup  $Sp_{2g}(\mathbb{Z}/m\mathbb{Z})$  acts by automorphisms over  $R_m$ . We do, however, obtain an induced action of  $\mathcal{G}$  on  $\mathcal{A}_{g,[m]}$  over  $\mathbb{Z}[1/m]$ . The stack quotient of  $\mathcal{A}_{g,[m]}$  modulo  $\mathcal{G}$  is just  $\mathcal{A}_g\otimes\mathbb{Z}[1/m]$ . The scheme quotient of  $\mathcal{A}_{g,[m]}$  modulo  $\mathcal{G}$  is the coarse moduli scheme  $A_g\otimes\mathbb{Z}[1/m]$ . For  $m_1,\ m_2\geqslant 3$  these coarse moduli schemes agree over  $\mathbb{Z}[1/(m_1m_2)]$ ; hence we can glue them to obtain a coarse moduli scheme  $A_g$  over  $\mathbb{Z}$ .

The stacks  $\mathcal{A}_{g,[m]}$  are not complete. There are various ways to compactify them. The basic reference for this is the book [28]. There are toroidal compactifications that depend on the choice of some cone decomposition  $\Sigma$  (see [28] for details) and that map down to the Baily-Borel (or minimal, or Satake) compactification.

# 1.2. Moduli of curves

Fix an integer  $g \geqslant 2$ . We denote by  $\mathfrak{M}_g$  the moduli stack of curves of genus g over  $\operatorname{Spec}(\mathbb{Z})$ . It is a quasi-projective smooth Deligne-Mumford stack over  $\mathbb{Z}$  of relative dimension 3g-3 for  $g\geqslant 2$ , with geometrically irreducible fibers.

We write  $\overline{\mathbb{M}}_g$  for the Deligne-Mumford compactification of  $\mathbb{M}_g$ ; it is the stack of stable curves of genus g. See [24]. The boundary  $\overline{\mathbb{M}}_g \setminus \mathbb{M}_g$  is a divisor with normal crossings; it has irreducible components  $\Delta_i$  for  $0 \leqslant i \leqslant \lfloor g/2 \rfloor$ . There is a non-empty open part of  $\Delta_0$  that parametrizes irreducible curves with a single node. Similarly, for i > 0 there is a non-empty open part of  $\Delta_i$  parametrizing curves with precisely two irreducible components, of genera i and g - i. The complement of  $\Delta_0$  is the open substack  $\mathbb{M}_g^{ct} \subset \overline{\mathbb{M}}_g$  of curves of compact type. Here we recall that a stable curve C over a field k is said to be *of compact type* if the connected components of its Picard scheme are proper over k. If k is algebraically closed this is equivalent to the condition that the dual graph of the curve has trivial homology; so the irreducible components of C are regular curves, the graph of components is a tree, and the sum of the genera of the irreducible components equals g. Note that  $\mathbb{M}_g \subset \mathbb{M}_q^{ct}$ .

For the corresponding coarse moduli schemes we use the notation  $M_g$  and  $M_g^{ct}$ .

# 1.3. The Torelli morphism and the Torelli locus

Let C be a stable curve of compact type over a base scheme S, with fibers of genus  $g \ge 2$ . The Picard scheme  $Pic_{C/S}$  is a smooth separated S-group scheme whose components are of finite type and proper over S. In particular, the identity component  $J_C := Pic_{C/S}^0$  is an abelian scheme over S. It has relative dimension g and comes equipped with a canonical principal polarization  $\lambda$ .

The functor that sends C to the pair  $(J_C, \lambda)$  defines a representable morphism of algebraic stacks

$$\mathfrak{j}\colon \mathfrak{M}_{\mathfrak{g}}^{\mathrm{ct}} o \mathcal{A}_{\mathfrak{g}}$$
 ,

called the Torelli morphism. It is known that this morphism is proper.

Torelli's celebrated theorem says that for an algebraically closed field k the restricted morphism  $j\colon \mathcal{M}_g \to \mathcal{A}_g$  is injective on k-valued points. In other words, if  $C_1$  and  $C_2$  are smooth curves over k such that  $(J_{C_1},\lambda_1)$  and  $(J_{C_2},\lambda_2)$  are isomorphic then  $C_1$  and  $C_2$  are isomorphic. This injectivity property of the Torelli morphism does not hold over the boundary; for instance, if C is a stable curve of compact type with two irreducible components then the Jacobian of C does not "see" at which points the two components are glued. For a detailed study of what happens over the boundary, see [8].

Let us now work over a field k. On coarse moduli schemes the Torelli morphism gives rise to a morphism  $j\colon M_g^{ct}\to A_g$ . We define the *Torelli locus*  $T_g\subset A_g$  to be the image of this morphism. It is a reduced closed subscheme of  $A_g$ . By the *open Torelli locus*  $T_g^\circ\subset T_g$  we mean the image of  $M_g$ , i.e., the subscheme of  $T_g$  whose geometric points correspond to Jacobians of nonsingular curves. Note that  $T_g^\circ\subset T_g$  is open and dense.

The boundary  $T_g \setminus T_g^\circ$  is denoted by  $T_g^{dec}$ . The notation refers to the fact that a point  $s \in T_g(\overline{k})$  is in  $T_g^{dec}$  if and only if the corresponding ppav  $(A_s,\lambda_s)$  is decomposable, meaning that we have ppav  $(B_1,\mu_1)$  and  $(B_2,\lambda_2)$  of smaller dimension such that  $(A_s,\lambda_s)\cong (B_1,\mu_1)\times (B_2,\mu_2)$  as ppav. In one direction this is clear, for if C is a reducible curve of compact type,  $(J_C,\lambda)$  is the product, as a ppav, of the Jacobians of the irreducible components of C. Conversely, if  $(A_s,\lambda_s)$  is decomposable, it has a symmetric theta divisor that is reducible, which implies it cannot be the Jacobian of an irreducible (smooth and proper) curve.

**Remark 1.1.** Let g>2. The Torelli morphism  $j\colon M_g\to \mathcal{A}_g$  is ramified at the hyperelliptic locus. Outside the hyperelliptic locus it is an immersion. The picture is different for the Torelli morphism  $j\colon M_g\to A_g$  on coarse moduli schemes. The morphism  $j\colon M_{g,\mathbb{Q}}\to A_{g,\mathbb{Q}}$  on the characteristic zero fibers is an immersion; however, in positive characteristic this is not true in general. See [68], Corollaries 2.8, 3.2 and 5.3.

# 2. Some abstract Hodge theory

In this section we review some basic notions from abstract Hodge theory. We shall focus on examples related to abelian varieties.

# 2.1. Basic definitions

We start by recalling some basic definitions. For a more comprehensive treatment we refer to [18] and [69].

Let  $\mathbb{S} := \text{Res}_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}}(\mathbb{G}_m)$ , which is an algebraic torus over  $\mathbb{R}$  of rank 2, called the Deligne torus. Its character group is isomorphic to  $\mathbb{Z}^2$ , on which complex conjugation, the non-trivial element of  $\text{Gal}(\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R})$ , acts by  $(\mathfrak{m}_1,\mathfrak{m}_2) \mapsto (\mathfrak{m}_2,\mathfrak{m}_1)$ . We have  $\mathbb{S}(\mathbb{R}) = \mathbb{R}^*$  and  $\mathbb{S}(\mathbb{C}) = \mathbb{C}^* \times \mathbb{C}^*$ . Let  $w \colon \mathbb{G}_{m,\mathbb{R}} \to \mathbb{S}$  be the cocharacter given on real points by the natural embedding  $\mathbb{R}^* \hookrightarrow \mathbb{C}^*$ ; it is called the weight cocharacter.

Let Nm:  $\mathbb{S} \to \mathbb{G}_{m,\mathbb{R}}$  be the homomorphism given on real points by  $z \mapsto z\bar{z}$ ; it is called the norm character.

A  $\mathbb{Z}$ -Hodge structure of weight k is a torsion-free  $\mathbb{Z}$ -module H of finite rank, together with a homomorphism of real algebraic groups  $h\colon \mathbb{S} \to GL(H)_{\mathbb{R}}$  such that  $h\circ w\colon \mathbb{G}_m \to GL(H)_{\mathbb{R}}$  is the homomorphism given by  $z\mapsto z^{-k}\cdot \mathrm{id}_H$ . The Hodge decomposition

$$H_{\mathbb{C}}=\oplus_{\mathfrak{p}+\mathfrak{q}=k}\,H_{\mathbb{C}}^{\mathfrak{p},\mathfrak{q}}$$

is obtained by taking  $H^{p,q}_{\mathbb{C}}$  to be the subspace of  $H_{\mathbb{C}}$  on which  $(z_1,z_2)\in\mathbb{C}^*\times\mathbb{C}^*=\mathbb{S}(\mathbb{C})$  acts as multiplication by  $z_1^{-p}z_2^{-q}$ . (We follow the sign convention of [22]; see loc. cit., Remark 3.3.)

As an example, the Tate structure  $\mathbb{Z}(n)$  is the Hodge structure of weight -2n with underlying  $\mathbb{Z}$ -module  $\mathbb{Z}(n)=(2\pi \mathfrak{i})^n\cdot\mathbb{Z}$  given by the homomorphism  $Nm^n\colon\mathbb{S}\to\mathbb{G}_{m,\mathbb{R}}=GL\big(\mathbb{Z}(n)\big)_{\mathbb{R}}$ . If H is any Hodge structure, we write H(n) for  $H\otimes_{\mathbb{Z}}\mathbb{Z}(n)$ .

The endomorphism C=h(i) of  $H_{\mathbb{R}}$  is known as the Weil operator. If H is a  $\mathbb{Z}$ -Hodge structure of weight k, a *polarization* of H is a homomorphism of Hodge structures  $\psi \colon H \otimes H \to \mathbb{Z}(-k)$  such that the bilinear form

$$H_{\mathbb{R}}\times H_{\mathbb{R}}\to \mathbb{R}$$

given by  $(x,y)\mapsto (2\pi i)^k\cdot \psi_\mathbb{R}\big(x\otimes C(y)\big)$  is symmetric and positive definite. (Here  $\psi_\mathbb{R}$  is obtained from  $\psi$  by extension of scalars to  $\mathbb{R}$ .) This condition implies that  $\psi$  is symmetric if k is even and alternating if k is odd.

Instead of working with integral coefficients, we may also consider  $\mathbb{Q}$ -Hodge structures. The above definitions carry over verbatim.

**Example 2.1.** Let  $(A, \lambda)$  be a polarized complex abelian variety. The first homology group  $H = H_1(A, \mathbb{Z})$  carries a canonical Hodge structure of type (-1,0) + (0,-1). (By this we mean that  $H^{p,q} = (0)$  for all pairs (p,q) different from (-1,0) and (0,-1).) The polarization  $\lambda \colon A \to A^t$  (in the sense of the theory of abelian varieties) induces a polarization (in the sense of Hodge theory)  $\psi \colon H \otimes H \to \mathbb{Z}(1)$ . Let  $CSp(H,\psi) \subset GL(H)$  be the algebraic group of symplectic similitudes of H with respect to the symplectic form  $\psi$ . The homomorphism  $h \colon \mathbb{S} \to GL(H)_{\mathbb{R}}$  that gives the Hodge structure factors through  $CSp(H,\psi)_{\mathbb{R}}$ .

A crucial fact for much of the theory we want to discuss is that the map  $(A,\lambda)\mapsto (H,\psi)$  gives an equivalence of categories

(2.2) 
$$\left\{ \begin{array}{l} \text{polarized complex} \\ \text{abelian varieties} \end{array} \right\} \xrightarrow{\text{eq}} \left\{ \begin{array}{l} \text{polarized Hodge structures} \\ \text{of type } (-1,0) + (0,-1) \end{array} \right\} .$$

In subsection 3.2 below we shall explain how this fact gives rise to a modular interpretation of certain Shimura varieties. As a variant, the category of abelian varieties is equivalent to the category of polarizable  $\mathbb{Z}$ -Hodge structures. Another variant is obtained by working with  $\mathbb{Q}$ -coefficients; we get that the category of abelian varieties up to isogeny is equivalent to the category of polarizable  $\mathbb{Q}$ -Hodge structures of type (-1,0)+(0,-1).

# 2.2. Hodge classes and Mumford-Tate groups

Let H be a  $\mathbb{Q}$ -Hodge structure of weight k. By a  $Hodge \ class$  in H we mean an element of

$$H \cap H^{0,0}_{\mathbb{C}}$$
;

so, a *rational* class that is purely of type (0,0) in the Hodge decomposition. Clearly, a non-zero Hodge class can exist only if k=0. If the weight is 0 and Fil $^{\bullet}H_{\mathbb{C}}$  is the Hodge filtration, the space of Hodge classes is also equal to

$$H \cap Fil^0 H_{\mathbb{C}}$$

where again the intersection is taken inside  $H_{\mathbb{C}}$ .

As an example, we note that a  $\mathbb{Q}$ -linear map  $H \to H$ , viewed as an element of  $\operatorname{End}_{\mathbb{Q}}(H) = H^{\vee} \otimes H$ , is a homomorphism of Hodge structures if and only it is a Hodge class for the induced Hodge structure on  $\operatorname{End}_{\mathbb{Q}}(H)$ . (Note that  $H^{\vee} \otimes H$  indeed has weight 0.) Similarly, a polarization  $H \otimes H \to \mathbb{Q}(-k)$  gives rise to a Hodge class in  $(H^{\vee})^{\otimes 2}(-k)$ .

Let  $h\colon \mathbb{S} \to GL(H)_{\mathbb{R}}$  be the homomorphism that defines the Hodge structure on H. Consider the homomorphism  $(h,Nm)\colon \mathbb{S} \to GL(H)_{\mathbb{R}} \times \mathbb{G}_{m,\mathbb{R}}$ . The *Mumford-Tate group of* H, notation MT(H), is the smallest algebraic subgroup  $M \subset GL(H) \times \mathbb{G}_m$  over  $\mathbb{Q}$  such that (h,Nm) factors through  $M_{\mathbb{R}}$ . As we shall see in Example 2.3 below, in some important cases the definition takes a somewhat simpler form.

It is known that MT(H) is a connected algebraic group. If the Hodge structure H is polarizable, MT(H) is a reductive group; this plays an important role in many applications.

The crucial property of the Mumford-Tate group is that it allows us to calculate spaces of Hodge classes, as we shall now explain. For simplicity we shall assume the Hodge structure H to be polarizable.

We consider the Hodge structures we can build from H by taking direct sums, duals, tensor products and Tate twists. Concretely, given a triple  $\mathbf{m}=(\mathfrak{m}_1,\mathfrak{m}_2,\mathfrak{m}_3)$  with  $\mathfrak{m}_1,\mathfrak{m}_2\in\mathbb{Z}_{\geqslant 0}$  and  $\mathfrak{m}_3\in\mathbb{Z}$ , define

$$T(\textbf{m}) := H^{\otimes \mathfrak{m}_1} \otimes (H^{\vee})^{\otimes \mathfrak{m}_2} \otimes \mathbb{Q}(\mathfrak{m}_3) \,.$$

The group  $GL(H) \times \mathbb{G}_m$  naturally acts on H via the projection onto its first factor; hence it also acts on  $H^\vee$ . We let it act on  $\mathbb{Q}(1)$  through the second projection. This gives us an induced action of  $GL(H) \times \mathbb{G}_m$  on T(m). The crucial property of the Mumford-Tate group  $MT(H) \subset GL(H) \times \mathbb{G}_m$  is that for any such tensor construction T = T(m), the subspace of Hodge classes  $T \cap T^{0,0}_{\mathbb{C}}$  is precisely the subspace of MT(H)-invariants. Note that the MT(H)-invariants are just the invariants in T under the action of the group  $MT(H)(\mathbb{Q})$  of  $\mathbb{Q}$ -rational points of the Mumford-Tate group. As the  $\mathbb{Q}$ -points of MT(H) are Zariski dense in the  $\mathbb{C}$ -group  $MT(H)_{\mathbb{C}}$ , the subspace of  $MT(H)(\mathbb{C})$ -invariants in  $T \otimes \mathbb{C}$  equals

$$\left(T\cap T^{0,0}_{\mathbb{C}}\right)\otimes_{\mathbb{Q}}\mathbb{C}$$
 .

The above property of the Mumford-Tate group characterizes it uniquely. In other words, if  $M \subset GL(H) \times \mathbb{G}_m$  is an algebraic subgroup with the property that for any T = T(m) the space of Hodge classes  $T \cap T_{\mathbb{C}}^{0,0}$  equals the subspace of Minvariants in T, we have M = MT(H). (See [22], Section 3.) In this way we have a direct coupling between the Mumford-Tate group and the various spaces of Hodge classes in tensor constructions obtained from H.

**Example 2.3.** Consider a polarized abelian variety  $(A, \lambda)$  over  $\mathbb{C}$ . Let  $H_{\mathbb{Q}} = H_1(A, \mathbb{Q})$  with polarization form  $\psi \colon H_{\mathbb{Q}} \otimes H_{\mathbb{Q}} \to \mathbb{Q}(1)$  be the associated  $\mathbb{Q}$ -Hodge structure, and recall that the Hodge structure is given by a homomorphism  $h \colon \mathbb{S} \to CSp(H_{\mathbb{Q}}, \psi)_{\mathbb{R}}$ . Define the Mumford-Tate group of A, notation MT(A), to be the smallest algebraic subgroup  $M \subset CSp(H_{\mathbb{Q}}, \psi)$  over  $\mathbb{Q}$  with the property that h factors through  $M_{\mathbb{R}}$ .

The Mumford-Tate group as defined here is really the same as the Mumford-Tate group of the Hodge structure  $H_{\mathbb{Q}}$ . To be precise,  $MT(H_{\mathbb{Q}}) \subset GL(H_{\mathbb{Q}}) \times \mathbb{G}_m$  as defined above is the graph of the multiplier character  $\nu \colon CSp(H_{\mathbb{Q}}, \psi) \to \mathbb{G}_m$  restricted to MT(A). When considering Hodge classes in tensor constructions T as above, we let MT(A) act on the Tate structure  $\mathbb{Q}(1)$  through the multiplier character.

If we want to understand how the Mumford-Tate group is used, the simplest non-trivial examples are obtained by looking at endomorphisms. As customary we write  $\operatorname{End}^0(A)$  for  $\operatorname{End}(A) \otimes \mathbb{Q}$ . By the equivalence of categories of (2.2), in the version with  $\mathbb{Q}$ -coefficients, we have

(2.4) 
$$\operatorname{End}^{0}(A) \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{End}_{\mathbb{O}\text{-HS}}(H_{\mathbb{O}}) = \operatorname{End}_{\mathbb{O}}(H_{\mathbb{O}})^{\operatorname{MT}(A)}.$$

Once we know the Mumford-Tate group, this allows us to calculate the endomorphism algebra of A. In practice we often use this the other way around, in that we assume  $\operatorname{End}^0(A)$  known and we use (2.4) to obtain information about  $\operatorname{MT}(A)$ .

In general Hodge classes on A are not so easy to interpret geometrically; see for instance the example in [54], § 4. (In this example, A is a simple abelian fourfold and there are Hodge classes in  $H^4(A^2,\mathbb{Q})$  that are not in the algebra generated by divisor classes; see [50] and [51], (2.5).) According to the Hodge conjecture, all Hodge classes should arise from algebraic cycles on A but even for abelian varieties this is far from being proven.

# 2.3. Hodge loci

We study the behavior of Mumford-Tate groups in families. The setup here is that we consider a polarizable  $\mathbb{Q}$ -VHS (variation of Hodge structure) of weight k over a complex manifold S. Let  $\mathcal{H}$  denote the underlying  $\mathbb{Q}$ -local system. For each  $s \in S(\mathbb{C})$  we have a Mumford-Tate group  $MT_s \subset GL(\mathcal{H}(s)) \times \mathbb{G}_m$ , and we should like to understand how this group varies with s. This is best described by passing to a universal cover  $\pi \colon \tilde{S} \to S$ . Write  $\tilde{\mathcal{H}} := \pi^*\mathcal{H}$ , and let  $H := \Gamma(\tilde{S}, \tilde{\mathcal{H}})$ . We have a trivialization  $\tilde{\mathcal{H}} \to H \times \tilde{S}$ . Using this we may view the Mumford-Tate group  $MT_x$  of a point  $x \in \tilde{S}$  (by which we really mean the Mumford-Tate group of the image of x

in S) as an algebraic subgroup of  $GL(H) \times \mathbb{G}_m$ . So, passing to the universal cover has the advantage that we can describe the VHS as a varying family of Hodge structures on some given space H and that we may describe the Mumford-Tate groups  $MT_x$  as subgroups of one and the same group.

Given a triple  $\mathbf{m} = (m_1, m_2, m_3)$  as in subsection 2.2, consider the space

$$T(\mathbf{m}) := H^{\otimes \mathfrak{m}_1} \otimes (H^{\vee})^{\otimes \mathfrak{m}_2} \otimes \mathbb{Q}(\mathfrak{m}_3)$$
 ,

on which we have a natural action of  $GL(H) \times \mathbb{G}_m$ . We may view an element  $t \in T(m)$  as a global section of the local system

$$\tilde{\mathfrak{I}}(m) := \tilde{\mathfrak{H}}^{\otimes \, m_1} \otimes (\tilde{\mathfrak{H}}^\vee)^{\otimes \, m_2} \otimes \mathbb{Q}(m_3)_{\tilde{S}} \, ,$$

which underlies a  $\mathbb{Q}$ -VHS of weight  $(m_1-m_2)k-2m_3$  on  $\tilde{S}$ . (The Tate twist  $\mathbb{Q}(m_3)_{\tilde{S}}$  is a constant local system; it only has an effect on how we index the Hodge filtration on  $\tilde{\mathcal{T}}(m)_{\mathbb{C}}$ .) In particular, it makes sense to consider the set  $Y(t)\subset \tilde{S}$  of points  $x\in \tilde{S}$  for which the value  $t_x$  of t at x is a Hodge class. As remarked earlier, we can only have nonzero Hodge classes if the weight is zero, so we restrict our attention to triples  $m=(m_1,m_2,m_3)$  with  $(m_1-m_2)k=2m_3$ . With this assumption on m, define

$$Y(t) := \left\{ x \in \tilde{S} \mid t_x \in Fil^0 \tilde{\mathfrak{I}}(m)_{\mathbb{C}}(x) \right\}.$$

As  $\text{Fil}^0 \tilde{\mathfrak{T}}(m)_\mathbb{C} \subset \tilde{\mathfrak{T}}(m)_\mathbb{C}$  is a holomorphic subbundle,  $Y(t) \subset \tilde{S}$  is a countable union of closed irreducible analytic subsets of  $\tilde{S}$ .

The first thing we deduce from this is that there is a countable union of proper analytic subsets  $\Sigma \subset S$  such that the Mumford-Tate group  $MT_s$  is constant (in a suitable sense) on  $S \setminus \Sigma$ , and gets smaller if we specialize to a point in  $\Sigma$ . Let us make this precise. Define  $\tilde{\Sigma} \subset \tilde{S}$  by

$$\tilde{\Sigma} := \cup \, Y(t)$$

where, with notation as introduced above, the union is taken over all triples m with  $(m_1 - m_2)k = 2m_3$ , and all  $t \in \Gamma(\tilde{S}, \tilde{T}(m))$  such that Y(t) is *not* the whole  $\tilde{S}$ .

The main point of this definition of  $\tilde{\Sigma}$  is the following. If  $x \in \tilde{S} \setminus \tilde{\Sigma}$  and  $t_x$  is a Hodge class in the fiber of  $\tilde{\mathbb{T}}(m)$  at the point x, we can extend  $t_x$  in a unique way to a global section t of  $\tilde{\mathbb{T}}(m)$  over  $\tilde{S}$ , and by definition of  $\tilde{\Sigma}$  this global section is a Hodge class in every fiber. By contrast, if  $x \in \tilde{\Sigma}$  then there is a tensor construction  $\tilde{\mathbb{T}}(m)$  and a Hodge class  $t_x$  whose horizontal extension t is not a Hodge class in every fiber.

It follows that for  $x \in \tilde{S} \setminus \tilde{\Sigma}$  the Mumford-Tate group  $MT_x \subset GL(H) \times \mathbb{G}_m$  is independent of the choice of x. We call the subgroup of  $GL(H) \times \mathbb{G}_m$  thus obtained the *generic Mumford-Tate group*. Let us denote it by  $MT^{gen}$ . Further, for *any*  $x \in \tilde{S}$  we have an inclusion  $MT_x \subseteq MT^{gen}$ .

The subset  $\tilde{\Sigma} \subset \tilde{S}$  is stable under the action of the covering group of  $\tilde{S}/S$  and therefore defines a subset  $\Sigma \subset S$ . It follows from the construction that  $\Sigma$  is a countable union of closed analytic subspaces of S. We say that a point  $s \in S(\mathbb{C})$  is *Hodge generic* if  $s \notin \Sigma$ . In somewhat informal terms we may restate the constancy

of the Mumford-Tate group over  $\tilde{S}\setminus \tilde{\Sigma}$  by saying that over Hodge generic locus the Mumford-Tate group is constant.

We can also draw conclusions pertaining to the loci in S where we have some given collection of Hodge classes. Start with a point  $s_0 \in S(\mathbb{C})$ , let  $x_0 \in \tilde{S}$  be a point above  $s_0$ , and consider a finite collection of nonzero classes  $t^{(i)}$ , for  $i=1,\ldots,r$ , in tensor spaces  $T(m^{(i)}) = \Gamma(\tilde{S},\tilde{T}(m^{(i)}))$  that are Hodge classes for the Hodge structure at the point  $x_0$ . With notation as above, the locus of points in  $\tilde{S}$  where all classes  $t^{(i)}$  are again Hodge classes is  $Y(t^{(1)}) \cap \cdots \cap Y(t^{(r)})$ . The image of this locus in S is a countable union of closed irreducible analytic subspaces. These components are called the Hodge loci of the given VHS.

**Definition 2.5.** Let  $\mathcal H$  be a polarizable  $\mathbb Q$ -VHS over a complex manifold S. A closed irreducible analytic subspace  $Z\subseteq S$  is called a *Hodge locus* of  $\mathcal H$  if there exist nonzero classes  $t^{(1)},\ldots,t^{(r)}$  in tensor spaces  $T(m^{(i)})=\Gamma\big(\tilde S,\tilde T(m^{(i)})\big)$  such that Z is an irreducible component of the image of  $Y(t^{(1)})\cap\cdots\cap Y(t^{(r)})$  in S.

Remark 2.6. If we start with a polarizable  $\mathbb{Z}$ -VHS over a nonsingular complex algebraic variety S then by a theorem of Cattani, Deligne and Kaplan, see Corollary 1.3 in [11], the Hodge loci are algebraic subvarieties of S. See also [81].

We note that in the definition of Hodge loci there is no loss of generality to consider only a finite collection of Hodge classes. The requirement that a (possibly infinite) collection of classes  $t^{(i)}$  are all Hodge classes translates into the condition that the homomorphism  $h\colon \mathbb{S} \to GL(H)_\mathbb{R}$  that defines the Hodge structure factors through  $M_\mathbb{R}$ , where  $M \subset GL(H)$  is the common stabilizer of the given classes. Among the classes  $t^{(i)}$  we can then find a finite subcollection  $t^{(i_1)},\ldots,t^{(i_n)}$  that have M as their common stabilizer; so the Hodge locus we are considering is defined by these classes.

# 3. Special subvarieties of A<sub>q</sub>, and the André-Oort conjecture

In this section we discuss the notion of a special subvariety in a given Shimura variety. The abstract formalism of Shimura varieties provides a good framework for this but it has the disadvantage that it requires a lot of machinery. For this reason we shall give several equivalent definitions and we focus on concrete examples related to moduli of abelian varieties. In particular the version given in Definition 3.7 can be understood without any prior knowledge of Shimura varieties.

Further we state the André-Oort conjecture. A proof of this conjecture, under the assumption of the Generalized Riemann Hypothesis (GRH), has been announced by Klingler, Ullmo and Yafaev.

#### 3.1. Shimura varieties

In this paper, by a *Shimura datum* we mean a pair (G, X) consisting of an algebraic group G over  $\mathbb{Q}$  together with a  $G(\mathbb{R})$ -conjugacy class X of homomorphisms  $\mathbb{S} \to G_{\mathbb{R}}$ ,

such that the conditions (2.1.1.1-3) of [21] are satisfied. The space X is the disjoint union of finitely many connected components. These components have the structure of a hermitian symmetric domain of non-compact type.

Associated with such a datum is a subfield  $E(G,X)\subset \mathbb{C}$  of finite degree over  $\mathbb{Q}$ , called the reflex field. Given a compact open subgroup  $K\subset G(\mathbb{A}_{fin})$  we have a Shimura variety  $Sh_K(G,X)$ , which is a scheme of finite type over E(G,X), and for which we have

$$Sh_{K}(G,X)(\mathbb{C}) = G(\mathbb{Q}) \setminus (X \times G(\mathbb{A}_{fin})/K).$$

For  $x \in X$  and  $\gamma K \in G(\mathbb{A}_{fin})/K$  we denote by  $[x, \gamma K] \in Sh_K(G, X)(\mathbb{C})$  the class of  $(x, \gamma K)$ .

If  $K' \subset K$  is another compact open subgroup of  $G(\mathbb{A}_{fin})$  we have a natural morphism  $Sh_{K',K} \colon Sh_{K'}(G,X) \to Sh_K(G,X)$ .

Let  $\gamma \in G(\mathbb{A}_{fin})$ . Given compact open subgroups K,  $K' \subset G(\mathbb{A}_{fin})$  with  $K' \subset \gamma K \gamma^{-1}$  we have a morphism  $T_{\gamma} = [\cdot \gamma] \colon Sh_{K'}(G, X) \to Sh_{K}(G, X)$  that is given on  $\mathbb{C}$ -valued points by  $T_{\gamma}[x, \mathfrak{a}K'] = [x, \mathfrak{a}\gamma K]$ . (For  $\gamma = 1$  we recover the morphism  $Sh_{K',K}$ .) This induces a right action of the group  $G(\mathbb{A}_{fin})$  on the projective limit

$$Sh(G, X) := \varprojlim_{K} Sh_{K}(G, X),$$

and  $Sh_K(G,X)$  can be recovered from Sh(G,X) as the quotient modulo K. More generally, for compact open subgroups  $K_1$ ,  $K_2 \subset G(\mathbb{A}_{fin})$  and  $\gamma \in G(\mathbb{A}_{fin})$  we have a Hecke correspondence  $T_{\gamma}$  from  $Sh_{K_1}(G,X)$  to  $Sh_{K_2}(G,X)$ , given by the diagram

$$(3.1) Sh_{K_1}(G,X) \xleftarrow{Sh_{K',K_1}} Sh_{K'}(G,X) \xrightarrow{[\cdot \gamma]} Sh_{K_2}(G,X),$$

where  $K' := K_1 \cap \gamma K_2 \gamma^{-1}$ .

# 3.2. The description of $A_g$ as a Shimura variety

With notation as in Subsection 0.1, let  $\mathfrak{H}_g$  denote the space of homomorphisms  $h\colon \mathbb{S} \to CSp_{2g,\mathbb{R}}$  that define a Hodge structure of type (-1,0)+(0,-1) on V for which  $\pm (2\pi \mathfrak{i})\cdot \varphi\colon V\times V\to \mathbb{Z}(1)$  is a polarization. The group  $CSp_{2g}(\mathbb{R})$  acts transitively on  $\mathfrak{H}_g$  by conjugation, and the pair  $(CSp_{2g,\mathbb{Q}},\mathfrak{H}_g)$  is an example of a Shimura datum. The reflex field of this datum is  $\mathbb{Q}$ .

The associated Shimura variety is known as the *Siegel modular variety* and may be identified with the moduli space of principally polarized abelian varieties with a level structure. To explain this in detail, we define, for a positive integer  $\mathfrak{m}$ , a compact open subgroup  $K_{\mathfrak{m}} \subset G(\mathbb{A}_{fin})$  by

$$K_{\mathfrak{m}} = \{ \gamma \in CSp(V \otimes \widehat{\mathbb{Z}}, \varphi) \mid \gamma \equiv id \pmod{\mathfrak{m}} \}.$$

For  $m \ge 3$  we then have an isomorphism

$$\beta \colon \mathcal{A}_{g,[\mathfrak{m}],\mathbb{Q}} \xrightarrow{\sim} Sh_{K_{\mathfrak{m}}}(CSp_{2g,\mathbb{Q}},\mathfrak{H}_g) \,.$$

On  $\mathbb{C}$ -valued points  $\beta$  is given as follows. To begin with, a  $\mathbb{C}$ -valued point of  $\mathcal{A}_{g,[m]}$  is a triple  $(A,\lambda,\alpha)$  consisting of a complex ppav of dimension g together with a level m structure that is symplectic for some choice of a primitive mth root of unity  $\zeta \in \mathbb{C}$ . Write  $H := H_1(A,\mathbb{Z})$  for the singular homology group in degree 1 of (the complex manifold associated with) A, and let  $\psi \colon H \times H \to \mathbb{Z}(1)$  be the polarization associated with  $\lambda$ ; see (2.2). Choose a symplectic similitude  $s \colon H \xrightarrow{\sim} V$ . (Even though  $\psi$  takes values in  $\mathbb{Z}(1)$  and  $\varphi$  takes values in  $\mathbb{Z}$ , the notion of a symplectic similitude makes sense.) Via s, the natural Hodge structure on H corresponds to an element  $x \in \mathfrak{H}_g$ . Further, we have an identification  $A[m] \xrightarrow{\sim} H/mH$ , such that  $e^{\lambda}(P,Q) = \exp(\psi(y,z)/m)$  if  $P,Q \in A[m](\mathbb{C})$  correspond to  $y,z \in H/mH$ , respectively. (Note that  $\exp(\psi(y,z)/m)$  is well-defined.) Hence the given level structure  $\alpha$  can be viewed, via s, as an element  $\gamma K_m \in CSp(V \otimes (\mathbb{Z}/m\mathbb{Z}), \varphi) = CSp(V \otimes \widehat{\mathbb{Z}}, \varphi)/K_m$ . The isomorphism  $\beta$  then sends  $(A,\lambda)$  to the point  $[x,\gamma K_m]$ .

For  $\mathfrak{m}\geqslant 3$ , the group  $CSp_{2g}(\mathbb{Q})$  acts properly discontinuously on the product  $\mathfrak{H}_g\times CSp_{2g}(\mathbb{A}_{fin})/\mathsf{K}_{\mathfrak{m}}$ . The space  $\mathfrak{H}_g$  has two connected components, and if  $\mathfrak{H}_g^+$  is one of these, the  $\phi(\mathfrak{m})$  components of  $\mathcal{A}_{g,[\mathfrak{m}],\mathbb{C}}$  all have the form  $\Gamma\backslash\mathfrak{H}_g^+$  for an arithmetic subgroup  $\Gamma\subset CSp_{2g}(\mathbb{Q})$ . For  $\mathfrak{m}=1$  it is no longer true that  $CSp_{2g}(\mathbb{Q})$  acts properly discontinuously on  $\mathfrak{H}_g\times CSp_{2g}(\mathbb{A}_{fin})/\mathsf{K}_1$ , and we should interpret the quotient space  $CSp_{2g}(\mathbb{Q})\backslash \big(\mathfrak{H}_g\times CSp_{2g}(\mathbb{A}_{fin})/\mathsf{K}_1\big)$  as an orbifold. Alternatively, we may take the actual quotient space; this gives us an isomorphism

$$CSp_{2g}(\mathbb{Q})\setminus (\mathfrak{H}_g \times CSp_{2g}(\mathbb{A}_{fin})/K_1) \xrightarrow{\sim} A_g(\mathbb{C})$$

between  $Sh_{K_1}(CSp_{2g,\mathbb{Q}},\mathfrak{H}_g)(\mathbb{C})$  and the set of  $\mathbb{C}$ -valued points of the coarse moduli space.

Remark 3.2. Let  $\mathcal{L} = \mathcal{L}(V_{\mathbb{Q}}, \varphi)$  denote the symplectic Grassmanian of Lagrangian (i.e., maximal isotropic) subspaces of  $V_{\mathbb{Q}}$  with respect to the form  $\varphi$ . The map  $\mathfrak{H}_g \to \mathcal{L}(\mathbb{C})$  that sends a Hodge structure  $y \in \mathfrak{H}_g$  to the corresponding Hodge filtration  $\mathrm{Fil}^0 \subset V_{\mathbb{C}}$  is an open immersion, known as the Borel embedding. For an arbitrary Shimura datum (G,X) we have, in a similar manner, a Borel embedding of X into the  $\mathbb{C}$ -points of a homogeneous projective variety.

Because  $\operatorname{Fil}^0 \subset V_\mathbb{C}$  is maximal isotropic, the form  $\varphi$  induces a perfect pairing  $\tilde{\varphi} \colon \operatorname{Fil}^0 \times V_\mathbb{C}/\operatorname{Fil}^0 \to \mathbb{C}$ . Via the Borel embedding, the tangent space of  $\mathfrak{H}_g$  at the point y maps isomorphically to the tangent space of  $\mathcal L$  at the point  $\operatorname{Fil}^0$ , which gives us

$$\text{(3.3)} \quad \begin{array}{l} \mathsf{T}_y(\mathfrak{H}_g) \overset{\sim}{\to} \mathsf{Hom}^{\text{sym}}(\mathsf{Fil}^0, \mathsf{V}_\mathbb{C}/\mathsf{Fil}^0) \\ := \left\{\beta \colon \mathsf{Fil}^0 \to \mathsf{V}_\mathbb{C}/\mathsf{Fil}^0 \mid \bar{\varphi}(\nu, \beta(\nu')) = \bar{\varphi}(\nu', \beta(\nu)) \text{ for all } \nu, \nu' \in \mathsf{Fil}^0 \right\}. \end{array}$$

The condition that  $\bar{\varphi}(\nu,\beta(\nu')) = \bar{\varphi}(\nu',\beta(\nu))$  means that  $\beta$  is its own dual, via the isomorphisms  $\mathrm{Fil}^0 \overset{\sim}{\to} (V_\mathbb{C}/\mathrm{Fil}^0)^\vee$  and  $V_\mathbb{C}/\mathrm{Fil}^0 \overset{\sim}{\to} (\mathrm{Fil}^0)^\vee$  induced by  $\bar{\varphi}$ ; whence the notation  $\mathrm{Hom}^{sym}$ .

#### 3.3. Special subvarieties

There are several possible approaches to the notion of a special subvariety of a given Shimura variety. Let us start with the construction that gives the quickest definition. We use the language of Shimura varieties; the example to keep in mind is the Siegel modular variety  $Sh(CSp_{2g,\mathbb{Q}},\mathfrak{H}_g)$ . After this we shall give some alternative definitions that lean less heavily on the abstract formalism of Shimura varieties. The reader who prefers to avoid the language of Shimura varieties is encouraged to skip ahead to Definition 3.7.

We fix a Shimura datum (G,X) and a compact open subgroup  $K\subset G(\mathbb{A}_{fin})$ . If (M,Y) is a second Shimura datum, by a morphism  $f\colon (M,Y)\to (G,X)$  we mean a homomorphism of algebraic groups  $f\colon M\to G$  such that for any  $y\colon \mathbb{S}\to M_\mathbb{R}$  in Y the composite  $f\circ y\colon \mathbb{S}\to G_\mathbb{R}$  is an element of X. The existence of such a morphism of Shimura data implies that E(M,Y) contains E(G,X), and f gives rise to a morphism of schemes

$$Sh(f): Sh(M, Y) \rightarrow Sh(G, X)_{E(M, Y)}$$
.

Let  $\gamma \in G(\mathbb{A}_{fin})$ . The image of the composite morphism

$$(3.4) \hspace{1cm} \operatorname{Sh}(M,Y)_{\mathbb{C}} \xrightarrow{\operatorname{Sh}(f)} \operatorname{Sh}(G,X)_{\mathbb{C}} \xrightarrow{[\cdot\gamma]} \operatorname{Sh}(G,X)_{\mathbb{C}} \longrightarrow \operatorname{Sh}_{K}(G,X)_{\mathbb{C}}$$

is a reduced closed subscheme of  $Sh_K(G, X)_{\mathbb{C}}$ .

**Definition 3.5** (Version 1). A closed subvariety  $Z \subset \operatorname{Sh}_K(G,X)_\mathbb{C}$  is called a *special subvariety* if there exists a morphism of Shimura varieties  $f \colon (M,Y) \to (G,X)$  and an element  $\gamma \in G(\mathbb{A}_{\operatorname{fin}})$  such that Z is an irreducible component of the image of the morphism (3.4).

For a second approach we fix an algebraic subgroup  $M \subset G$  over  $\mathbb{Q}$ . Define  $Y_M \subset X$  as the set of all  $x \colon \mathbb{S} \to G_\mathbb{R}$  in X that factor through  $M_\mathbb{R} \subset G_\mathbb{R}$ . We give  $Y_M$  the topology induced by the natural topology on X. The group  $M(\mathbb{R})$  acts on  $Y_M$  by conjugation. It can be shown (see [45], Section I.3, or [46], 2.4) that  $Y_M$  is a finite union of orbits under  $M(\mathbb{R})$ . We remark that the condition that  $Y_M$  is nonempty imposes strong restrictions on M; it implies, for instance, that M is reductive.

**Definition 3.6** (Version 2). A closed subvariety  $Z \subset \operatorname{Sh}_K(G,X)_\mathbb{C}$  is called a *special subvariety* if there exists an algebraic subgroup  $M \subset G$  over  $\mathbb{Q}$ , a connected component  $Y^+ \subset Y_M$ , and an element  $\gamma \in G(\mathbb{A}_{\operatorname{fin}})$  such that  $Z(\mathbb{C}) \subset \operatorname{Sh}_K(G,X)(\mathbb{C})$  is the image of  $Y^+ \times \{\gamma K\} \subset X \times G(\mathbb{A}_{\operatorname{fin}})/K$  under the natural map to  $\operatorname{Sh}_K(G,X)(\mathbb{C}) = G(\mathbb{Q}) \setminus (X \times G(\mathbb{A}_{\operatorname{fin}})/K)$ .

For the equivalence of this definition with Version 1 we refer to [45], Proposition 3.12 or [46], Remark 2.6.

Our third version of the definition, which in some sense is the most conceptual one, describes special subvarieties of  $Sh_K(G,X)$  as the Hodge loci of certain natural VHS associated with representations of the group G. As we wish to highlight the

Siegel modular case, we only state this version of the definition for special subvarieties of  $\mathcal{A}_{q,[m],\mathbb{C}}$  for some  $m \ge 3$ . (See, however, Remark 3.8.)

In order to talk about Hodge loci we need some VHS. The most natural  $\mathbb{Q}$ -VHS on  $\mathcal{A}_{g,[m],\mathbb{C}}$  to consider is the variation  $\mathcal{H}$  whose fiber at a point  $(A,\lambda,\alpha)$  is given by  $H_1(A,\mathbb{Q})$ . (One could also work with the  $\mathbb{Q}$ -VHS given by the first cohomology groups; for what we want to explain it makes no difference.) The Hodge loci of this VHS are precisely the special subvarieties.

**Definition 3.7** (Version 3). A closed subvariety  $Z \subset \mathcal{A}_{g,[m],\mathbb{C}}$  is called a *special subvariety* if it is a Hodge locus of the  $\mathbb{Q}$ -VHS  $\mathcal{H}$  over  $\mathcal{A}_{g,[m],\mathbb{C}}$  whose fiber at a point  $(A, \lambda, \alpha)$  is  $H_1(A, \mathbb{Q})$ .

Concretely this means that the special subvarieties are "defined by" the existence of certain Hodge classes, i.e., they are the maximal closed irreducible subvarieties of  $\mathcal{A}_{g,[\mathfrak{m}],\mathbb{C}}$  on which certain given classes are Hodge classes. In order to make this precise, one has to pass to the universal cover, where the underlying local system can be trivialized, as explained in subsection 2.3. Note that in this case the Hodge loci are algebraic subvarieties of  $\mathcal{A}_{g,[\mathfrak{m}],\mathbb{C}}$ ; this can be shown by proving that this notion of a special subvariety agrees with the one given by Version 1 of the definition but it also follows from the theorem of Cattani, Deligne and Kaplan mentioned in Remark 2.6.

Remark 3.8. Version 3 of the definition of a special subvariety, in terms of Hodge loci, can be extended without much difficulty to arbitrary Shimura varieties  $Sh_K(G,X)$ . The variations of Hodge structure one considers are those associated with representations of the group G. See for instance [46], Proposition 2.8, which also proves the equivalence with the earlier definitions. We note that, even if one is only interested in statements about special subvarieties of  $\mathcal{A}_g$ , there are good reasons to extend this notion to more general Shimura varieties. The formalism of Shimura varieties enables one to perform some useful constructions, such as the passage to an adjoint Shimura datum, or the reduction of a problem to the case of a simple Shimura datum.

**Example 3.9.** Let  $(A, \lambda, \alpha)$  be a complex ppav of dimension g with a symplectic level m structure, for some  $m \ge 3$ . Let  $D := \operatorname{End}^0(A)$  be its endomorphism algebra. We should like to describe the largest closed (irreducible) subvariety  $Z \subset \mathcal{A}_{g,[m],\mathbb{C}}$  that contains the moduli point  $[A, \lambda, \alpha] \in \mathcal{A}_{g,[m]}(\mathbb{C})$ , and such that all endomorphisms of A extend to endomorphisms of the universal abelian scheme over Z. In terms of Hodge classes this means that all elements of D, viewed as Hodge classes in  $\operatorname{End}_{\mathbb{Q}}(H_1(A,\mathbb{Q}))$ , should extend to Hodge classes in the whole  $\mathbb{Q}$ -VHS over Z given by the endomorphisms of the first homology groups. (Note that we may pass to  $\mathbb{Q}$ -coefficients, for if  $f \in \operatorname{End}(A)$  is an endomorphism such that some positive multiple nf extends to an endomorphism of the whole family, f itself extends.)

As before, choose a symplectic similitude  $s\colon H_1(A,\mathbb{Z}) \xrightarrow{\sim} V$  with respect to the polarization forms on both sides. This gives  $V_\mathbb{Q}$  the structure of a left module over the algebra D. Let  $h_0 \in \mathfrak{H}_g$  be the point given by the Hodge structure on  $H_1(A,\mathbb{Z})$ , viewed as a Hodge structure on V via s. Further, let  $M \subset CSp_{2g,\mathbb{Q}} = CSp(V_\mathbb{Q},\varphi)$  be the algebraic subgroup given by

$$M = CSp(V_{\mathbb{Q}}, \phi) \cap GL_{D}(V_{\mathbb{Q}})$$
.

The homomorphism  $h_0\colon \mathbb{S} \to CSp_{2g,\mathbb{R}}$  factors through  $M_\mathbb{R}$ . Conversely, if  $h \in \mathfrak{H}_g$  factors through  $M_\mathbb{R}$  then D acts by endomorphisms on the corresponding abelian variety. This means that  $Z \subset Sh_{K_\mathfrak{m}}(CSp_{2g,\mathbb{Q}},\mathfrak{H}_g)_\mathbb{C} = \mathcal{A}_{g,[\mathfrak{m}],\mathbb{C}}$  is the special subvariety that is obtained, with notation as in Definition 3.6, as the image of  $Y_M^+ \times \{\gamma K_\mathfrak{m}\}$  in  $\mathcal{A}_{g,[\mathfrak{m}],\mathbb{C}}$ , were  $Y_M^+ \subset Y_M$  is the connected component containing  $h_0$  and  $\gamma K_\mathfrak{m} \in CSp_{2g}(\mathbb{A}_{fin})/K_\mathfrak{m}$  is the class corresponding (via s) with the given level structure  $\alpha$ .

We conclude that the closed subvarieties  $Z \subset \mathcal{A}_{g,[\mathfrak{m}],\mathbb{C}}$  "defined by" the existence of endomorphisms, as made precise above, are examples of special subvarieties.

**Remark 3.10.** The special subvarieties considered in Example 3.9 are referred to as special subvarieties *of PEL type*; the name comes from the fact that they have a modular interpretation in terms of abelian varieties with a *p*olarization, given *e*ndomorphisms and a *level* structure.

In the above example our focus is on the concrete modular interpretation of these special subvarieties. For many purposes it is relevant to also have a good description of these examples in the language of Shimura varieties; see also [19], Section 4. Here one starts with data  $(D, *, V, \varphi)$  where D is a finite dimensional semisimple  $\mathbb{Q}$ -algebra, \* is a positive involution, V is a faithful (left) D-module of finite type, and  $\varphi \colon V \times V \to \mathbb{Q}$  is an alternating form such that

$$(3.11) \qquad \qquad \varphi(d\nu,\nu') = \varphi(\nu,d^*\nu') \qquad \text{for all } \nu,\nu' \in V \text{ and } d \in D.$$

Let  $G=CSp(V,\varphi)\cap GL_D(V)$  be the group of D-linear symplectic similitudes of V. Next one considers a  $G^0(\mathbb{R})$ -conjugacy class X of homomorphisms  $\mathbb{S}\to G_\mathbb{R}$  defining on V a Hodge structure of type (-1,0)+(0,-1) such that  $\pm 2\pi i\cdot \varphi$  is a polarization. The pair  $(G^0,X)$  is then a Shimura datum.

In Example 3.9, the data  $(D,V,\varphi)$  are given, and we take for \* the involution on D defined by (3.11). For X we take the conjugacy class of the homomorphism  $h_0$ . By construction, the inclusion  $G \hookrightarrow CSp_{2g}$  defines a morphism of Shimura data  $f\colon (G^0,X) \to (CSp_{2g},\mathfrak{H}_g)$ , and the special subvariety  $Z \subset \mathcal{A}_{g,[m],\mathbb{C}}$  of 3.9 is an irreducible component of a Hecke translate of the image of  $Sh(G^0,X)$  in  $Sh_{K_m}(CSp_{2g,\mathbb{Q}},\mathfrak{H}_g)_{\mathbb{C}} = \mathcal{A}_{g,[m],\mathbb{C}}$ .

**Example 3.12.** Let (G, X) be a Shimura datum. If  $x : \mathbb{S} \to G_{\mathbb{R}}$  is an element of X, we define the Mumford-Tate group of x to be the smallest algebraic subgroup  $MT_x \subset G$  over  $\mathbb{Q}$  such that x factors through  $MT_{x,\mathbb{R}}$ .

Let  $s = [x, \gamma K] \in Sh_K(G, X)(\mathbb{C})$ . Up to conjugation by an element of  $G(\mathbb{Q})$ , the Mumford-Tate group  $MT_x \subset G$  is independent of the choice of the chosen representative  $(x, \gamma K)$  for s. Hence we may define the Mumford-Tate group of s to be  $MT_s := MT_x$ .

A point  $x \in X$  is called a *special point* if  $MT_x$  is a torus. A point  $s \in Sh_K(G, X)(\mathbb{C})$  is a special subvariety of  $Sh_K(G, X)_{\mathbb{C}}$  if and only if  $MT_s$  is a torus, i.e., if for some (equivalently, any) representative  $[x, \gamma K]$  the point  $x \in X$  is special.

In the Siegel modular variety  $A_g$  over  $\mathbb{C}$ , the special points are precisely the CM points, i.e., the points corresponding to ppav  $(A, \lambda)$  such that A is an abelian variety of CM type; see Mumford [54], § 2.

# 3.4. Basic properties of special subvarieties

We list a number of elementary properties.

(a) Hecke images of special subvarieties are again special. More precisely, consider a Hecke correspondence  $T_{\gamma}$  as given by (3.1). Let  $Z \subset Sh_{K_1}(G,X)_{\mathbb{C}}$  be a special subvariety. Write  $T_{\gamma}(Z)$  for the image of  $Sh_{K',K_1}^{-1}(Z)$  under the map  $[\cdot\gamma]$ . Then all irreducible components of  $T_{\gamma}(Z)$  are special subvarieties of  $Sh_{K_2}(G,X)_{\mathbb{C}}$ .

As a particular case, if we have compact open subgroups  $K' \subset K \subset G(\mathbb{A}_{\mathrm{fin}})$  and if  $Y \subset \mathrm{Sh}_{K'}(G,X)_{\mathbb{C}}$  is a special subvariety, the image of Y in  $\mathrm{Sh}_K(G,X)_{\mathbb{C}}$  is again a special subvariety. Conversely, if  $Z \subset \mathrm{Sh}_K(G,X)_{\mathbb{C}}$  is a special subvariety, the irreducible components of  $\mathrm{Sh}_{K',K}^{-1}(Z)$  are special subvarieties of  $\mathrm{Sh}_{K'}(G,X)_{\mathbb{C}}$ . In the study of special subvarieties, these remarks often allow us to choose the level subgroup K as small as needed.

(b) The special points in a special subvariety are dense. If  $Z \subset Sh_K(G,X)_\mathbb{C}$  is a special subvariety then the special points in Z are dense for the analytic topology on  $Z(\mathbb{C})$ ; in particular they are Zariski dense. In order to prove this, the essential point is to show that Z contains at least *one* special point. The density of special points then follows from the fact that, with notation as in Def. 3.6, the set of special points in  $Y_M$  is stable under the action of  $M(\mathbb{Q})$ , and that  $M(\mathbb{Q})$  is analytically dense in  $M(\mathbb{R})$ .

In view of the importance of special points, let us sketch a proof of the existence of at least one special point, following [54], § 3. The argument uses the fact from the theory of reductive groups that, given a maximal torus  $T \subset G_{\mathbb{R}}$ , the  $G(\mathbb{R})$ -conjugacy class of T contains a maximal torus that is defined over  $\mathbb{Q}$ .

Start with any  $x\colon \mathbb{S}\to G_\mathbb{R}$  in X. Let  $C\subset G_\mathbb{R}$  be the centralizer of  $x(\mathbb{S})$ , which is a connected reductive subgroup of  $G_\mathbb{R}$ . (See [78], Lemma 15.3.2.) Choose a maximal torus  $T\subset C$ . Because  $x(\mathbb{S})$  is contained in the center of C, we have  $x(\mathbb{S})\subseteq T$ . Hence, if  $T'\subset G_\mathbb{R}$  is any torus that contains T then T' centralizes  $x(\mathbb{S})$  and therefore  $T'\subset C$ . It follows that T is also a maximal torus of  $G_\mathbb{R}$ . By the general fact stated above, there exists an element  $g\in G(\mathbb{R})$  and a maximal torus  $S\subset G$  (over  $\mathbb{Q}$ ) such that  $gTg^{-1}=S_\mathbb{R}$ . Then  $gx=Inn(g)\circ x\colon \mathbb{S}\to G_\mathbb{R}$  factors through  $S_\mathbb{R}$ ; hence  $gx\in X$  is a special point.

A more refined version of the existence of special points plays a role in the theory of canonical models of Shimura varieties. See [19], Theorem 5.1.

- (c) *Intersections of special subvarieties are again special.* This is easily seen using Version 2 of the definition.
- (d) After passage to an appropriate level cover, special subvarieties are locally symmetric. Suppose  $Z \subset Sh_K(G,X)$  is a special subvariety. We may then find a subgroup  $K' \subset K$  of finite index and an irreducible component  $Z' \subset Sh_{K'}(G,X)$  of the inverse image of Z such that Z' is a locally symmetric variety. (We shall recall the definition of this notion in subsection 4.2 below.)

Remark 3.13. A situation we often encounter is that we have an abelian scheme  $A \to T$  over some complex algebraic variety T (assumed to be irreducible), with a principal polarization  $\lambda \colon A \to A^t$  and a level m structure  $\alpha$ . This gives us a morphism  $\tau \colon T \to \mathcal{A}_{g,[m],\mathbb{C}}$ , and we should like to know if the scheme-theoretic image of  $\tau$  is a special subvariety. (In this situation, the scheme-theoretic image is the reduced closed subscheme of  $\mathcal{A}_{g,[m]}$  that has as underlying set the Zariski closure of the topological image of  $\tau$ .)

We remark that the answer to this question only depends on A up to isogeny, and is independent of the polarization and the level structure.

Of course, if we change the polarization or the level structure, or if we replace A/T by an isogenous abelian scheme, the morphism  $\tau$  is replaced by another morphism  $\tau'\colon T\to \mathcal{A}_{g,[m]}$ , but if the image of  $\tau$  is special, so is the image of  $\tau'$ . (For simplicity of exposition, we here assume the new polarization is again principal, but even this assumption can be dropped.) The reason that this is true is that the Mumford-Tate group of an abelian variety A only depends on A up to isogeny, and not on any additional structures.

The conclusion, then, is that one may set up the situation as one finds it convenient. We could equip  $(A,\lambda)$  with a level structure (possibly after replacing T with a cover), allowing us to work with a fine moduli scheme  $\mathcal{A}_{g,[m]}$ . Alternatively, one could forget about the level structure and consider the morphism  $T \to \mathcal{A}_g$  to the moduli stack; in this case we should talk about special substacks of  $\mathcal{A}_g$ , which makes perfectly good sense. Yet another option is to consider the morphism  $T \to A_g$  to the coarse moduli scheme. For the question whether the closed image of T is special, it does not matter which version we consider.

Further, since we are only interested in the closure of  $\tau(T)$ , we may replace T by an open subset, and in fact it suffices to know the generic fiber of A/T.

**Conjecture 3.14** (André-Oort, [2], [62], [63]). Let (G,X) be a Shimura datum. Let  $K \subset G(\mathbb{A}_{\operatorname{fin}})$  be a compact open subgroup and let  $Z \subset \operatorname{Sh}_K(G,X)_{\mathbb{C}}$  be an irreducible closed algebraic subvariety such that the special points on Z are dense for the Zariski topology. Then Z is a special subvariety.

An alternative way of stating the conjecture is that, given a set of special points  $\mathfrak{S} \subset \operatorname{Sh}_K(G,X)(\mathbb{C})$ , the irreducible components of the Zariski closure of  $\mathfrak{S}$  are special subvarieties.

We refer to Noot's Bourbaki lecture [60] for an excellent overview of what was known about the conjecture in 2004.

Klingler and Yafaev [38], using the work of Ullmo and Yafaev [79], have announced a proof of the André-Oort conjecture, assuming the Generalized Riemann hypothesis (GRH) for CM fields.

**Theorem 3.15** (Klingler-Yafaev). Assume the GRH holds for all CM fields. Then the André-Oort conjecture is true.

There are some special cases of the André-Oort conjecture that are known to hold without any assumptions on the GRH. See for instance [47], Theorem 5.7, later refined by Yafaev in [82], Theorem 1.2 of [26], and Theorem 1.2.1 (with condition (2)) of [38]. In all these cases, however, further assumptions are needed on the set of special points. Apart from trivial cases, the only completely unconditional case of the André-Oort conjecture that we know of, is the main result of André's paper [3], which proves the conjecture for subvarieties of a product of two modular curves, and the more recent extension of this by Pila [70] to arbitrary products of modular curves.

Remark 3.16. As in Remark 3.13, consider a principally polarized abelian scheme  $(A,\lambda)$  over some complex algebraic variety T. Again we consider the question whether the closed image of the morphism  $\tau\colon T\to A_g$  is a special subvariety. Suppose that A/T is isogenous to a product  $A_1\times A_2$  with  $\dim(A_i/T)=g_i$ . After choosing polarizations (principal, say) on the factors  $A_i$  we get morphisms  $\tau_i\colon T\to A_{g_i}$ . In this situation, if the closure of  $\tau(T)$  in  $A_g$  is a special subvariety, the closure of  $\tau_i(T)$  in  $A_{g_i}$  is special, too. If one believes the André-Oort conjecture this is clear, and it is in fact not very difficult to show this using our definitions of a special subvariety.

The converse implication does not hold, in general. So, if the closures of  $\tau_1(T)$  and  $\tau_2(T)$  are special, this does not imply that the closure of  $\tau(T)$  is special. Looking at it from the perspective of the André-Oort conjecture, suppose that for each of the two factors  $A_i/T$  separately, we have a Zariski dense collection of points in  $T(\mathbb{C})$  at which the fiber of  $A_i/T$  is of CM type. Then it is not true, in general, that there is a dense set of points at which the fibers are *simultaneously* of CM type. (For a concrete example, take T to be an open part of  $\mathbb{A}^1\setminus\{0,1\}$ , let  $A_1/T$  be a family of elliptic curves that is not isotrivial, and take for  $A_2$  the same family with a suitable shift in the parameter, i.e., such that  $A_{2,t}=A_{1,t+\varepsilon}$  for some fixed  $\varepsilon\in\mathbb{C}$ .)

# 4. Special subvarieties in the Torelli locus

Throughout this section we work over  $\mathbb{C}$ .

**Conjecture 4.1** (Coleman, [16], Conjecture 6). Given  $g \ge 4$  there are only finitely many non-singular projective curves C over C, up to isomorphism, of genus g and the Jacobian  $J_C$  is a CM abelian variety.

As we shall discuss below, the conjecture is known to be false for  $g \le 7$ , so a corrected version of the conjecture should have as an assumption that  $g \ge 8$ .

Both Coleman's conjecture 4.1 and the André-Oort conjecture 3.14 were inspired by the analogy with the Manin-Mumford conjecture, now a theorem of Raynaud. For proofs of the Manin-Mumford conjecture, see [72], [73]; for an easy proof see [71]. The analogy between this conjecture and the André-Oort conjecture is discussed for instance in [48], Section 6 and in [60], Section 3. As we shall discuss next, the André-Oort conjecture also has important implications for Coleman's conjecture.

**Expectation 4.2** (Oort, [63], § 5). For large g (in any case  $g \ge 8$ ), there does not exist a special subvariety  $Z \subset A_g$  with  $\dim(Z) \ge 1$  such that  $Z \subseteq T_g$  and  $Z \cap T_g^{\circ}$  is nonempty.

Note that the assumption that  $Z \cap T_g^\circ$  is nonempty implies that this intersection is open and dense in Z.

Remark 4.3. The condition that Z meets  $T_g^\circ$  is important. Indeed, it is easy to see that for any  $g\geqslant 2$  there exist special subvarieties  $Z\subset A_g$  of positive dimension with  $Z\subset T_g$ . For  $g\leqslant 3$  this is clear, as  $T_g=A_g$  is special. Assume g>3. Choose a base variety T and a stable curve  $C\to T$  of genus 3, such that the closure of the image of T in  $A_3$  is a special subvariety of positive dimension d. Let  $J\to T$  be the Jacobian,  $\lambda$  its canonical principal polarization. Next take an elliptic curve E with complex multiplication, and let  $\mu$  be its principal polarization. Then for every  $t\in T(\mathbb{C})$  the moduli point  $\xi_t\in A_g(\mathbb{C})$  of the ppav  $(J_t,\lambda)\times (E,\mu)^{g-3}$  lies in the closed Torelli locus  $T_g$ , as it is the Jacobian of the curve that is obtained from  $C_t$  by attaching to it a tail of g-3 copies of E. Moreover, it is not hard to see that the closure of the set of points  $\xi_t$  is a d-dimensional special subvariety of  $A_g$ . In this way we can produce many positive dimensional special subvarieties in  $T_g$  for any  $g\geqslant 2$ .

Remark 4.4. Assume we have an integer g for which Expectation 4.2 holds. Assume furthermore that the André-Oort Conjecture 3.14 is true. Then Coleman's Conjecture 4.1 is true in genus g. In fact, let  $CM(T_g^\circ) \subset T(\mathbb{C})$  be the set of all CM Jacobians of dimension g. If this set is infinite, its Zariski closure in  $A_g$  has at least one irreducible component Z of positive dimension, which by 3.14 is special, contradicting 4.2. Hence 4.2 and 3.14 together imply 4.1.

Remark 4.5. For g > 3 we know that  $T_g$  itself is not a special subvariety, and in fact there is no special subvariety  $S \subsetneq A_g$  that contains  $T_g$ . (Note that  $T_g \neq A_g$  for g > 3.) The simplest argument we know for this is to use information about the geometric monodromy. For convenience, let us pass to moduli spaces with a level m structure, for some  $m \geqslant 3$ . Write  $\mathfrak{T}_{g,[m]} \subset \mathcal{A}_{g,[m]}$  for the Torelli locus in  $\mathcal{A}_{g,[m]}$ . Over  $\mathcal{A}_{g,[m]}$ 

we have the natural  $\mathbb{Q}$ -VHS  $\mathcal{H}$  considered before (see just before Definition 3.7), and the assertion that  $T_g$  is not contained in any special subvariety  $S \subsetneq A_g$  is implied by the fact that the generic Mumford-Tate group of the restriction of  $\mathcal{H}$  to  $\mathcal{T}_{g,[m]}$  is the full group  $CSp_{2g,\mathbb{Q}}$ .

Write  $\mathcal{H}'$  for the restriction of  $\mathcal{H}$  to  $\mathfrak{T}_{g,[m]}$ . Choose a Hodge generic base point  $b \in \mathfrak{T}_{g,[m]}$ , let H be the fiber of  $\mathcal{H}'$  at b, and let  $\psi$  be the polarization form on H. Further, let  $M \subset CSp_{2g,\mathbb{Q}} = CSp(H,\psi)$  be the Mumford-Tate group at b, which is the generic Mumford-Tate group of  $\mathcal{H}'$ . Then M contains  $\mathbb{G}_m \cdot 1$ . On the other hand we have a monodromy representation

$$\rho \colon \pi_1(\mathfrak{T}_{\mathfrak{q},\lceil \mathfrak{m} \rceil},\mathfrak{b}) o GL(H)$$
 ,

and since we have passed to a level cover,  $\rho$  factors through  $Sp(H, \psi)$ . By a result of Deligne, see [20], Proposition 7.5, the image of  $\rho$  has a subgroup of finite index that is contained in  $M(\mathbb{C})$ .

So we are done if we can show that the image of  $\rho$  is Zariski dense in  $Sp(H, \psi)$ . This can be seen, for instance, using transcendental methods. In fact, the homomorphism  $\rho \colon \pi_1(\mathfrak{T}_{g,[m]}, b) \to Sp(H, \psi)$  may be identified with the natural homomorphism  $\Gamma_g \to Sp(H, \psi)$  from the mapping class group in genus g to the symplectic group, and it is a classical result that this homomorphism is surjective. (See for instance [5], Chap. 15, especially § 3.)

The argument given here is entirely based on information about the geometric monodromy, and there are other loci in  $T_g$  to which the same reasoning applies. As an example, if  $H_g \subset T_g$  is the hyperelliptic locus, the image of the geometric monodromy representation on  $H_g$  is again dense in the symplectic group  $Sp(H, \psi)$ ; see [1], Theorem 1. By the above argument, it follows that there is no special subvariety  $S \subsetneq A_g$  that contains  $H_g$ .

# 4.1. A modified version of Coleman's Conjecture

In [13] we find a modified version of 4.1 which does hold, at least conditionally, for every g > 3. A g-dimensional abelian variety A, say over  $\mathbb{C}$ , is said to be a *Weyl CM abelian variety* if  $L := \operatorname{End}^0(A)$  is a field of degree 2g over  $\mathbb{Q}$  whose Galois closure has degree  $2^g \cdot g!$  over  $\mathbb{Q}$ . It can be shown that, in a suitable sense, most CM abelian varieties are of this type.

**Theorem 4.6** (Chai and Oort). Assume the André-Oort Conjecture 3.14 to be true. Then for every g > 3 the number of Weyl CM points in  $T_q^{\circ}$  is finite.

See [13], 3.7. We remark that for  $g \ge 4$  we do not know any example of a Jacobian of Weyl CM type. In connection with this, note that for a non-hyperelliptic curve C of genus g(C) > 1 with  $Aut(C) \ne \{id\}$  the Jacobian  $J_C$  does not give a Weyl CM point.

#### 4.2. Results of Hain

In his paper [32], Hain proved some results inspired by 4.2. Though the results are conditional, they point in an interesting direction, as they suggest that ball quotients should play a special role. (The open unit ball in  $\mathbb{C}^n$  is the symmetric space SU(n,1)/U(n).) It should be pointed out that all non-trivial examples known to us, in genus at least 4, are indeed ball quotients; see the next sections.

In order to state Hain's results, let us first recall that a complex algebraic variety S is called a *locally symmetric variety* if there is a semisimple algebraic group G over  $\mathbb{Q}$ , a maximal compact subgroup  $K \subset G(\mathbb{R})$ , and an arithmetic subgroup  $\Gamma \subset G(\mathbb{Q})$ , such that the symmetric space  $G(\mathbb{R})/K$  is hermitian and  $S = \Gamma \backslash G(\mathbb{R})/K$ . As we have seen in subsection 3.4, special subvarieties are (at least after passage to a level cover) locally symmetric.

If  $S_1 = \Gamma_1 \setminus G_1(\mathbb{R})/K_1$  and  $S_2 = \Gamma_2 \setminus G_2(\mathbb{R})/K_2$  are locally symmetric varieties, a morphism  $f \colon S_1 \to S_2$  is called a map of locally symmetric varieties if it is induced by a homomorphism of algebraic groups  $G_1 \to G_2$  over  $\mathbb{Q}$ .

Hain calls a locally symmetric variety S *good* if it has no locally symmetric divisors. Further, he mostly restricts his attention to locally symmetric varieties S for which the corresponding  $\mathbb{Q}$ -group G is almost simple (i.e.,  $G^{ad}$  is simple); for the problems that interest us this is no loss of generality. In case G is almost simple, it can be shown that S is not good only if the  $\mathbb{Q}$ -rank of G is  $\leq 2$  and if the non-compact factors of  $G_{\mathbb{R}}$  are all of the form SO(n,2) or SU(n,1), up to isogeny.

Define a *locally symmetric family of abelian varieties* to be a principally polarized abelian scheme  $X \to S$  such that S is a locally symmetric variety and the corresponding morphism  $S \to A_g$  is a map of locally symmetric varieties. By a *locally symmetric family of curves* we mean a curve  $C \to S$  of compact type such that the corresponding relative Jacobian  $J \to S$  is a locally symmetric family of abelian varieties.

**Theorem 4.7** (Hain). Let  $\pi$ :  $C \to S$  be a locally symmetric family of curves that is not isotrivial. Assume the  $\mathbb{Q}$ -group that gives S is almost simple. Assume further that either  $\pi$  is smooth, or S is good and the generic fiber of  $\pi$  is smooth. Then S is a quotient of a complex n-ball.

See [32], Theorem 1.

It should be realized that for applications to Coleman's conjecture, the assumptions of the theorem are too strong. The main problem is that a special subvariety Z as in 4.2 only gives us (possibly after passing to a level cover) a locally symmetric family of abelian varieties  $J \to Z$  such that the geometric generic fiber is a Jacobian. We may find a dominant morphism  $Z' \to Z$  such that the pullback  $J' \to Z'$  is the relative Jacobian of a smooth curve  $C \to Z'$  but in general it is not possible to do this with Z' an open part of a locally symmetric variety. See [32], in particular Proposition 8.3.

Under weaker assumptions, Hain proves a second result.

**Theorem 4.8** (Hain). Let  $A \to S$  be a locally symmetric family of abelian varieties such that the morphism  $p \colon S \to A_g$  is not constant and factors through the Torelli locus  $T_g$ . Write

$$\begin{split} S^{dec} &:= \big\{ s \in S(\mathbb{C}) \bigm| A_s \text{ is the Jacobian of a singular curve,} \big\} \\ S^* &:= S(\mathbb{C}) \setminus S^{dec} \,, \\ S^{he} &:= \big\{ s \in S(\mathbb{C}) \bigm| A_s \text{ is the Jacobian of a hyperelliptic curve.} \big\} \end{split}$$

We assume the  $\mathbb{Q}$ -group that gives S is almost simple, S is good, and  $S^* \neq \emptyset$ . Then either S is a ball quotient, or else  $g \geqslant 3$ , each component of  $S^{dec}$  has complex codimension  $\geqslant 2$  in S, the family does not lift to a locally symmetric family of curves, and  $S^* \cap S^{he}$  is a non-empty divisor in  $S^*$ , which moreover for g > 3 is nonsingular.

```
See [32], Theorem 2.
```

The proofs of Hain's results rely on a rigidity property of mapping class groups, which is a special case of the theorem of Farb and Masur in [29].

De Jong and Zhang [36] have pushed Hain's results further, based on the observation that the hyperelliptic locus in  $A_g \setminus A_q^{dec}$  is affine.

**Theorem 4.9** (de Jong and Zhang). With assumptions as in Theorem 4.8, either S is a ball quotient, or  $S^{dec}$  has codimension  $\leq 2$  in S, or the Baily-Borel compactification of S has a boundary of codimension  $\leq 2$ .

**Corollary 4.10.** Let  $S \subset A_g$ , with  $g \geqslant 4$ , be a Hecke translate of a Hilbert modular subvariety of  $A_g$ , i.e., S is a special subvariety of PEL type obtained from a totally real field F of degree g. Then S is not contained in  $T_g$ .

The Corollary was proved in [36], except when g = 4 and F contains a quadratic subfield. That case was settled by Bainbridge and Möller in [6].

In addition to the results discussed here, there are several other results inspired by 4.2. Among these are papers of Möller, Viehweg and Zuo; see [43], [44] and [80], and the recent paper [4] by F. Andreatta. These results support the Expectation 4.2.

# 4.3. Results of Ciliberto, van der Geer and Teixidor i Bigas

In [15] and [14], Ciliberto, van der Geer and Teixidor i Bigas have obtained some interesting results about the number of moduli of curves whose Jacobians have nontrivial endomorphisms. As we shall discuss below, when combined with the results of Hain and de Jong-Zhang, these results can be used to obtain some restrictions on the special subvarieties of PEL type that are contained in the Torelli locus.

As always in this section we work over  $\mathbb{C}$ .

**Theorem 4.11** (Ciliberto, van der Geer and Teixidor i Bigas, [15]). Let  $Z \subset M_g$ , for  $g \ge 2$ , be an irreducible closed subvariety. Let  $\Omega$  be an algebraic closure of the function field  $\mathbb{C}(Z)$ , let  $C/\Omega$  be the curve corresponding to the geometric generic point of Z, and

assume that the Jacobian  $J_C/\Omega$  has the property that  $\mathbb{Z} \subsetneq \operatorname{End}(J_C)$ . Then  $\dim(Z) \leqslant 2g-2$ , and the intersection of Z with the hyperelliptic locus in  $M_g$  has dimension at most g.

Note that in this theorem it is not assumed that the image of Z in  $A_g$  is a special subvariety.

In addition to the result as quoted here, the authors have some finer results about the case when  $\dim(Z) \ge 2g-3$ . For instance, they show that if  $\dim(Z) = 2g-2$  then either C is a cover of a non-constant elliptic curve E over  $\Omega$ , or g=2 and  $\operatorname{End}^0(J_C)$  is a real quadratic field. (The case  $\dim(Z) = 2g-3$  is analyzed by Ciliberto and van der Geer in [14].)

# 4.4. Excluding certain special subvarieties of PEL type

One may use the results we have discussed to obtain restrictions on the special subvarieties  $Z \subset A_g$  of PEL type that can be contained in  $T_g$  with  $Z \cap T_g^{\circ} \neq \emptyset$ . (We do not, however, see a way to apply such arguments to arbitrary special subvarieties.) Our result is as follows.

**Theorem 4.12.** Consider a a special subvariety  $S \subset A_g$  of PEL type, arising from PEL data  $(D, *, V, \varphi)$  as in Remark 3.10, with  $\dim_{\mathbb{Q}}(V) = 2g$ .

- (i) Suppose D=F is a totally real field. (Albert Type I.) If g>4 then S is not contained in  $T_{\bf q}$ .
- (ii) Suppose D is a quaternion algebra over a totally real field F that splits at all infinite places of F. (Albert Type II.) If g > 8 then S is not contained in  $T_g$ .

For Albert's classification of the possible endomorphism algebras of abelian varieties we refer to [55], Section 21.

*Proof.* In both cases it follows from the results of [76] that D equals the endomorphism algebra of the abelian variety corresponding to the geometric generic point of S. Hence the generic abelian variety in our family is geometrically simple; in particular, if  $S \subset T_g$  then  $S \cap T_g^{\circ} \neq \emptyset$ .

First suppose D = F is a totally real field. Let  $e = [F : \mathbb{Q}]$ , which is an integer dividing g. Then S arises as a quotient of a product of e copies of the Siegel space  $\mathfrak{H}_h$  with h = g/e. This gives

$$dim(S) = e \cdot \frac{h(h+1)}{2} = \frac{g(g+e)}{2e}.$$

Theorem 4.11 gives the inequality  $g(g+e)/2e \le 2g-2$ , so we find

$$e \geqslant \frac{g^2}{3g-4} > \frac{g}{3}$$
.

As e divides g, either g is even and e = g/2 or e = g. However, for g > 4 the case e = g is excluded by Corollary 4.10. Assume then g > 4 is even and e = g/2; in this case  $\dim(S) = 3g/2$ . The assumptions in Hain's theorem 4.8 are satisfied and S is not a ball quotient. Hence we obtain that the intersection with the hyperelliptic

locus is a nonempty divisor and therefore has dimension (3g/2)-1. This contradicts Theorem 4.11.

Next we consider the case where D is a quaternion algebra over a totally real field F such that  $D \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{R}$  is isomorphic to a product of  $e = [F : \mathbb{Q}]$  copies of  $M_2(\mathbb{R})$ . In this case 2e divides g and S is a quotient of a product of e copies of  $\mathfrak{H}_h$  with h = g/2e; so  $dim(S) = e \cdot h(h+1)/2$  and S is not a ball quotient. The boundary in the Baily-Borel compactification has codimension g/2 > 2. By Theorem 4.9 it therefore suffices to show that  $S^{dec}$  cannot have codimension g/2 > 2.

There are two possibilities for the geometric generic point of a component of  $S^{dec}$ . Either the corresponding abelian variety is isogenous to a product  $X_1 \times X_2$ , where  $X_1$  and  $X_2$  both have an action by an order in D. Straightforward calculation gives that in this case the codimension is at least  $e \cdot (h-1)$ . Using the relation g=2eh we find that for g>8 the codimension is >2. The other possibility is that there is a subfield  $F' \subset F$  and a quaternion algebra D' with center F' such that  $D \cong F \otimes_{F'} D'$ . With  $e' = [F' : \mathbb{Q}]$  the codimension in this case equals  $(e-e') \cdot h(h+1)/2$ . Straightforward checking of the possibilities shows that for g>8 this is greater than 2.

It seems that similar arguments will also work for the Albert Type III, and even for Type IV we expect that we can obtain some non-trivial conclusions. We have not yet pursued this.

# 4.5. The Schottky problem

Expectation 4.2 is of course intimately related to the Schottky problem, which is the problem of characterizing which ppav  $(A,\lambda)$  are Jacobians of curves. There are several solutions or conjectural solutions of this problem. We refer to the overview papers [7], [17], [31] for an introduction to this beautiful topic. It seems that none of the (conjectural) solutions discussed in these papers can be directly applied to problems such as Conjecture 4.1 or Expectation 4.2. Though for both sides—algebraic curves and their moduli on the one hand, abelian varieties and special subvarieties in the moduli space on the other hand—we have many techniques and results at our disposal, it is difficult to find a language, or a set of techniques, using which both sides can be described simultaneously. This is a difficulty that we believe lies at the heart of the matter.

# 5. Examples of special subvarieties in the Torelli locus

In this section we discuss examples of special subvarieties  $S \subset T_g$  of positive dimension, with  $g \geqslant 4$  and  $S \cap T_g^{\circ} \neq \emptyset$ . The examples we consider arise from families of cyclic covers of  $\mathbb{P}^1$ . Throughout this section we work over  $\mathbb{C}$ .

We first look at a concrete example, following [35]. (The example was already given in [77].)

Example 5.1. Consider the family of curves given by

$$y^5 = x(x-1)(x-t),$$

where  $t \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \{0,1\}$  is a parameter. The complete and regular model  $C_t$  of this curve is a cyclic cover of  $\mathbb{P}^1$  with group  $\mu_5$ , with total ramification above 0, 1, t and  $\infty$ . The Hurwitz formula gives  $\chi = 5 \cdot -2 + 4 \cdot (5 - 1) = 6$  so  $g(C_t) = 4$ . In the moduli space  $A_4$  the corresponding family of Jacobians gives a 1-dimensional subvariety, whose closure we call  $Z \subset A_4$ . Clearly these Jacobians admit an action by  $\mathbb{Z}[\zeta_5]$ , the ring of integers of the cyclotomic field  $F := \mathbb{Q}[\zeta_5]$ .

Consider the special subvariety  $S \subset A_4$  containing Z that is defined by this action of  $\mathbb{Z}[\zeta_5]$ . More formally, fix a base point  $b \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \{0,1\}$  and choose a symplectic similitude  $s \colon H_1(C_b,\mathbb{Z}) \xrightarrow{\sim} V$  as in subsection 3.2. Via s, the Hodge structure on  $H_1(C_b,\mathbb{Q})$  corresponds to a point  $y \in \mathfrak{H}_4$  and we obtain the structure of an F-vector space on  $V_\mathbb{Q}$ . Let  $M \subset G_\mathbb{Q} = CSp(V,\varphi)_\mathbb{Q}$  be the algebraic subgroup obtained as the intersection of G with  $GL_F(V_\mathbb{Q})$ . With notation as in Def. 3.6, y lies in  $Y_M$ . If we choose the base point b such that the Jacobian  $J_b$  is not of CM type (which is certainly possible) then there is a unique connected component  $Y^+ \subset Y_M$  containing y, and  $S \subset A_4$  is the special subvariety obtained as the image of this  $Y^+$  under the quotient map  $\mathfrak{H}_4 \to CSp(V,\varphi) \setminus \mathfrak{H}_4 \xrightarrow{\sim} A_4(\mathbb{C})$ .

As we shall show,  $\dim(S) = 1$ . Assuming we know this, we conclude that Z, which is also 1-dimensional and is contained in S, contains an open dense subset of S, in which case it follows from property (b) in subsection 3.4 that there are infinitely many values of t such that the Jacobian of  $C_t$  is of CM type.

In order to calculate the dimension of S, we need to know how F acts on the tangent space of the Jacobian  $J_t$  at the origin. More precisely,  $T_0(J_t)$  has the structure of a module over the ring  $F\otimes_{\mathbb{Q}}\mathbb{C}=\prod_{\sigma\colon F\to\mathbb{C}}\mathbb{C}$ . Hence we obtain a direct sum decomposition  $T_0(J_t)=\oplus_{\sigma}T(\sigma).$  Let  $n_{\sigma}$  denote the  $\mathbb{C}$ -dimension of  $T(\sigma).$  These multiplicities  $n_{\sigma}$  do not depend on t. By using the polarization, one can show that  $n_{\sigma}+n_{\tilde{\sigma}}=2g/\phi(5)=2$  for all  $\sigma,$  where  $\tilde{\sigma}$  denotes the complex conjugate of  $\sigma.$  With this notation we have  $H^{der}_{\mathbb{R}}\cong\prod SU(n_{\sigma},n_{\tilde{\sigma}})$  and  $dim(S)=\sum n_{\sigma}n_{\tilde{\sigma}},$  where the sum is taken over a set of representatives of the complex embeddings of F modulo complex conjugation. See [76], Theorem 5, and see below for further details.

As  $T_0(J_t)$  is canonically dual to  $H^0(C_t,\omega)$ , we can calculate the multiplicities  $n_\sigma$  by writing down a basis of regular differentials on  $C_t$ . (In fact, as we shall explain below the Chevalley-Weil formula gives a much quicker method.) In the example at hand, if  $P_i$ , for  $i \in \{0,1,t,\infty\}$ , is the unique point above i, we have

$$div(x) = 5P_0 - 5P_{\infty}$$
,  $div(y) = P_0 + P_1 + P_t - 3P_{\infty}$ ,

and

$$div(dx) = 4P_0 + 4P_1 + 4P_t - 6P_{\infty}.$$

As a basis of regular differentials we find

$$\frac{dx}{y^2}$$
,  $\frac{dx}{y^3}$ ,  $\frac{dx}{y^4}$ ,  $\frac{xdx}{y^4}$ .

The weights of the first two are dual, whereas the last two forms have the same weight. The conclusion, then, is that there is one pair  $(\sigma, \bar{\sigma})$  with multiplicities (2,0), and one pair where the multiplicities are (1,1). Hence  $\dim(S) = 1 \cdot 1 + 2 \cdot 0 = 1$ , and we conclude that S = Z is a special subvariety contained in  $T_4$  with  $S \cap T_4^{\circ} \neq \emptyset$ . In particular this proves that Coleman's conjecture 4.1 does not hold for g = 4.

**Remark 5.2.** In the above example, we do not know a method to decide for which values of the parameter t the Jacobian of  $C_t$  is a CM abelian variety. The same remark applies to the examples we shall discuss next.

# 5.1. Families of cyclic covers

To obtain further such examples, the idea is to fix an integer  $m \geqslant 2$ , an integer  $N \geqslant 4$ , and monodromy elements  $\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_N$  in  $\mathbb{Z}/m\mathbb{Z}$ ; then we consider cyclic covers of  $\mathbb{P}^1$  with group  $\mu_m$ , branch points  $t_1, \ldots, t_N$  in  $\mathbb{P}^1$  and local monodromy  $\exp(2\pi i \alpha_j/m) \in \mu_m$  about  $t_j$ . If the branch points are all in  $\mathbb{A}^1$ , this cover is given by the affine equation

(5.3) 
$$y^{m} = (x - t_1)^{\alpha_1} (x - t_2)^{\alpha_2} \cdots (x - t_N)^{\alpha_N},$$

with  $\zeta \in \mu_m$  acting by  $(x,y) \mapsto (x,\zeta \cdot y)$ . Varying the branch points  $t_i$  gives us a family of curves, and it turns out that for certain choices of the data involved, the corresponding family of Jacobians traces out a special subvariety in  $A_\alpha$ .

Write  $\alpha=(\alpha_1,\ldots,\alpha_N)$ . The triple  $(m,N,\alpha)$  that serves as input for our construction has to satisfy some conditions. As already indicated, we want  $m\geqslant 2$ , as taking m=1 is clearly of no interest. Next, we require that  $N\geqslant 4$ . The reason is that from our family we obtain an (N-3)-dimensional subvariety in the moduli space (see below), and we are interested in special subvarieties of positive dimension. We assume that  $\alpha_i\not\equiv 0\pmod m$  for all i, and that  $\alpha_1+\cdots+\alpha_N\equiv 0\pmod m$ . This means that the  $t_i$  are branch points and that there are no further branch points. Further we need to assume that the elements  $\alpha_i$  generate the group  $\mathbb{Z}/m\mathbb{Z}$  for otherwise the (smooth projective) curves given by (5.3) are reducible.

We can find an open subscheme  $T\subset (\mathbb{P}^1)^N$ , disjoint from the big diagonals, and a smooth proper curve  $f\colon C\to T$  such that the fiber of f at a point  $t=(t_1,\ldots,t_N)$  in  $T(\mathbb{C})$  with all  $t_i$  in  $\mathbb{A}^1(\mathbb{C})$  is the complete regular curve given by (5.3). The genus of these curves is given by

(5.4) 
$$g = 1 + \frac{(N-2)m - \sum_{i=1}^{N} gcd(a_i, m)}{2}.$$

The relative Jacobian  $J\to T$  then defines a morphism  $\tau\colon T\to A_g$ , and we define  $Z(\mathfrak{m},N,\mathfrak{a})\subset A_g$  as the closure of the image of  $\tau$ . Note that since we are only

interested in the closure of  $\tau(T)$  there is no need to specify exactly which open subscheme  $T \subset (\mathbb{A}^1)^N$  we choose; see Remark 3.13.

We call two triples  $(\mathfrak{m},N,\mathfrak{a})$  and  $(\mathfrak{m}',N',\mathfrak{a}')$  equivalent if  $\mathfrak{m}=\mathfrak{m}'$  and N=N' and if the classes of  $\mathfrak{a}$  and  $\mathfrak{a}'$  in  $(\mathbb{Z}/\mathfrak{m}\mathbb{Z})^N$  are in the same orbit under  $(\mathbb{Z}/\mathfrak{m}\mathbb{Z})^*\times\mathfrak{S}_N$ . Here  $(\mathbb{Z}/\mathfrak{m}\mathbb{Z})^*$  acts diagonally on  $(\mathbb{Z}/\mathfrak{m}\mathbb{Z})^N$  by multiplication, and the symmetric group  $\mathfrak{S}_N$  acts by permutation of the indices. The closed subvariety  $Z(\mathfrak{m},N,\mathfrak{a})\subset A_g$  only depends on the equivalence class of the triple  $(\mathfrak{m},N,\mathfrak{a})$ .

The morphism  $\tau\colon T\to A_g$  factors through the quotient of T modulo the action of the group  $PGL_2(\mathbb{C})\times\mathfrak{S}_N$ , with  $PGL_2(\mathbb{C})=Aut(\mathbb{P}^1)$  acting diagonally on  $(\mathbb{P}^1)^N$  and  $\mathfrak{S}_N$  acting by permutation of the diagonals. (Without loss of generality we may assume  $T\subset (\mathbb{P}^1)^N$  is stable under  $PGL_2(\mathbb{C})\times\mathfrak{S}_N$ .) The subvariety  $Z(\mathfrak{m},N,\mathfrak{a})\subset A_g$  has dimension N-3. Note that we may also fix three of the branch points to lie at 0, 1 and  $\infty$ , as we did in Example 5.1; this has the effect of replacing T with a closed subvariety of dimension N-3 on which the morphism  $\varphi$  is generically finite. For instance, the example considered in 5.1 corresponds to the triple  $(\mathfrak{m},N,\mathfrak{a})=(5,4,(1,1,1,2))$ .

The Jacobians  $J_t$  in our family come equipped with an action of the group ring  $\mathbb{Z}[\mu_m]$ . Let  $S(\mu_m) \subset A_g$  be the special subvariety containing  $Z(m,N,\mathfrak{a})$  that is defined by this action. (In order to make this precise we follow the recipe given in Example 5.1.) In all cases we have the inequality

$$(5.5) N-3 \leqslant \dim S(\mu_m),$$

and if we have  $N-3=\dim S(\mu_m)$  then the conclusion is that  $Z(m,N,\alpha)=S(\mu_m)$  is a special subvariety in the Torelli locus that meets the open Torelli locus. (If  $N-3<\dim S(\mu_m)$  then a priori we know nothing; see subsection 5.4 below.) The question is therefore how to calculate the dimension of  $S(\mu_m)$ . Before we discuss this in general, let us look at another example.

**Example 5.6.** Consider the family of curves given by

$$y^9 = x(x-1)(x-t)$$
.

With notation as above we have m = 9 and N = 4, with local monodromy about the branch points given by a = (1,1,1,6).

The complete regular model  $C_t$  is a cyclic cover of  $\mathbb{P}^1$  with group  $\mu_9$ . The points 0, 1 and t are totally ramified, so we have unique points  $P_0$ ,  $P_1$ , and  $P_t$  above them. There are three points  $P_\infty^{(1)}$ ,  $P_\infty^{(2)}$  and  $P_\infty^{(3)}$  above  $\infty$ , each with ramification index 3. The Hurwitz formula gives  $\chi = 9 \cdot -2 + 3 \cdot 8 + 3 \cdot 2 = 12$  so g = 7, which agrees with (5.4).

The Jacobian  $J_t$  contains as an isogeny factor the Jacobian of the curve  $C_t'$  given by  $\mathfrak{u}^3=x(x-1)(x-t)$ . By a similar calculation,  $C_t'$  has genus 1. Its Jacobian  $J_t'$  is an elliptic curve with complex multiplication by  $\mathbb{Z}[\zeta_3]$ , and the family of Jacobians  $J_t'$  is isotrivial over  $\mathbb{P}^1\setminus\{0,1\}$ . (Note that in the given equation for  $C_t'$  there is no

ramification over  $\infty$ , so  $C_t'$  is geometrically isomorphic to the curve given by  $s^3 = \nu(\nu-1)$ . More explicitly, let  $\tilde{T} \to \mathbb{P}^1 \setminus \{0,1\}$  be the cyclic cover of degree 3 given by the equation  $\mu^3 = t(t-1)$ . After base change to  $\tilde{T}$  the family of curves  $C_t'$  becomes isomorphic to the constant curve defined by  $s^3 = \nu(\nu-1)$  via the isomorphism given by  $s = \mu u/(x-t)$  and  $\nu = (1-t)x/(x-t)$ .

Let  $J_t^{new}$  (the "new part") be the quotient of  $J_t$  modulo  $J_t'$ ; this is an abelian variety of dimension 6 on which we have an action by  $\mathbb{Z}[\zeta_9]$ . In order to determine the dimension of the special subvariety in  $A_6$  given by this action, we again calculate the multiplicities of the action on the tangent space. In this case, we already know in advance that there will be one non-primitive character of  $\mu_9$  occurring in  $H^0(C_t,\omega)$ . We have

$$\label{eq:div} \text{div}(x) = 9P_0 - 3P_\infty^{(1)} - 3P_\infty^{(2)} - 3P_\infty^{(2)} \; , \quad \text{div}(y) = P_0 + P_1 + P_t - P_\infty^{(1)} - P_\infty^{(2)} - P_\infty^{(3)} \; ,$$
 and

$$\operatorname{div}(dx) = 8P_0 + 8P_1 + 8P_t - 4P_{\infty}^{(1)} - 4P_{\infty}^{(2)} - 4P_{\infty}^{(3)}.$$

As a basis of regular differentials we find

$$\frac{dx}{y^4}\,,\quad \frac{dx}{y^5}\,,\quad \frac{dx}{y^6}\,,\quad \frac{dx}{y^7}\,,\quad \frac{dx}{y^8}\,,\quad \frac{xdx}{y^7}\,,\quad \frac{xdx}{y^8}\,.$$

As predicted, this gives one non-primitive character of  $\mu_9$  (corresponding to  $dx/y^6$ ); for the rest we find one complex conjugate pair with multiplicities (1,1), and two complex conjugate pairs for which the multiplicities are (2,0). The special subvariety in  $A_6$  given by the action of  $\mathbb{Q}[\zeta_9]$  with this collection of multiplicities has dimension  $1 \cdot 1 + 2 \cdot 0 + 2 \cdot 0 = 1$ . It follows that the  $J_t^{new}$  trace out a dense open subset of this special subvariety. As the original Jacobians  $J_t$  are isogenous to  $J_t' \times J_t^{new}$  with  $J_t'$  an isotrivial family with fibers of CM type, we conclude that the family of  $J_t$  traces out in  $A_7$  a (dense subset of a) special subvariety. As before, this implies that there are infinitely many values of t for which  $J_t$  is of CM type. (The t for which this happens are even analytically dense in  $\mathbb{P}^1(\mathbb{C})$ .)

Remark 5.7. Let (M,Y) be a Shimura datum. The dimension of the associated Shimura varieties  $Sh_K(M,Y)$  only depends on the structure of the real adjoint group  $M^{ad}_{\mathbb{R}}$ . Indeed, the dimension of the Shimura variety equals the complex dimension of the space Y, and the components of Y can be described as hermitian symmetric domains associated with the connected Lie group  $M^{ad}(\mathbb{R})^+$ , where the superscript "+" denotes the identity component for the analytic topology. In particular, if  $M^{ad}_{\mathbb{R}} \cong Q_1 \times \cdots \times Q_1$  is the decomposition of  $M^{ad}_{\mathbb{R}}$  as a product of  $\mathbb{R}$ -simple groups, the dimension of  $Sh_K(M,Y)$  can be calculated as a sum  $\delta(Q_1) + \cdots + \delta(Q_1)$ , where the contribution  $\delta(Q_i)$  of the factor  $Q_i$  can be looked up in [33], Table V. (Caution: the dimensions given there are the real dimensions.) The cases most relevant for our discussion are the following.

(1) 
$$\delta(Q_i) = 0$$
 if  $Q_i$  is anisotropic, i.e., if  $Q_i(\mathbb{R})$  is compact;

- (2)  $\delta(Q_i) = h(h+1)/2 \text{ if } Q_i \cong PSp_{2h,\mathbb{R}};$
- (3)  $\delta(Q_i) = pq \text{ if } Q_i \cong PSU(p, q).$

# 5.2. Calculating the dimension of $S(\mu_m)$

We return to the general situation of a family of curves  $f\colon C\to T$  associated with the data  $(\mathfrak{m},N,\mathfrak{a})$ . Our next goal is to calculate the dimension of the special subvariety  $S(\mu_{\mathfrak{m}})\subset A_g$  that contains  $Z=Z(\mathfrak{m},N,\mathfrak{a})$ . Choose a Hodge-generic base point  $b\in T(\mathbb{C})$ , choose a symplectic similitude  $s\colon H_1(C_b,\mathbb{Z})\stackrel{\sim}{\to} V$  as in subsection 3.2, and let  $y\in \mathfrak{H}_g$  be the point corresponding to the Hodge structure on  $H_1(C_b,\mathbb{Z})$ , viewed as a Hodge structure on V via s.

The Jacobian  $J \to T$  comes equipped with an action of the group ring  $\mathbb{Z}[\mu_m]$ . The Hodge classes we want to have over  $S(\mu_m)$  are these endomorphisms, which means we are in the situation of Example 3.9. The algebraic group  $M \subset CSp(V_\mathbb{Q},\varphi)$  we need to consider is given by

$$M := CSp(V_{\mathbb{Q}}, \phi) \cap GL_{\mathbb{Q}[\mu_m]}(V_{\mathbb{Q}})$$
.

We can calculate the dimension of  $S(\mu_m)$  via a deformation argument. In other words, if  $Y_M \subset \mathfrak{H}_g$  is as defined just before Definition 3.6, we calculate the dimension of the tangent space of  $Y_M$  at te point y.

The Hodge structure on  $V_{\mathbb{Q}}$  is of type (-1,0)+(0,-1), and the polarization gives us a symplectic form  $\phi\colon V_{\mathbb{Q}}\times V_{\mathbb{Q}}\to \mathbb{Q}(1)$ . As discussed in Remark 3.2, the Hodge filtration  $\mathrm{Fil}^0=V_{\mathbb{C}}^{0,-1}\subset V_{\mathbb{C}}$  is a Lagrangian subspace, so we have an induced isomorphism  $\bar{\Phi}\colon\mathrm{Fil}^0\stackrel{\sim}{\to} V_{\mathbb{C}}/\mathrm{Fil}^0$ . The tangent space of  $\mathfrak{H}_g$  at the point g is given by (3.3).

The extra structure we now have is an action of the algebra  $D:=\mathbb{Q}[\mu_m]$  on  $V_\mathbb{Q}$ . Let  $d\mapsto \tilde{d}$  denote the involution of D induced by the inversion in the group  $\mu_m$ . The form  $\varphi$  has the property that  $\varphi(d\nu,\nu')=\varphi(\nu,\tilde{d}\nu')$  for all  $d\in D$  and  $\nu,\nu'\in V_\mathbb{Q}$ .

The D-action on  $V_{\mathbb C}$  induces on  $V_{\mathbb C}^{-1,0}$  and  $V_{\mathbb C}^{0,-1}$  the structure of a module over the ring

$$D \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{C} = \prod_{n \in \mathbb{Z}/m\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{C}.$$

Correspondingly, we have decompositions

$$V_{\mathbb{C}}/\mathrm{Fil}^0 = V_{\mathbb{C}}^{-1,0} = \bigoplus_{\mathfrak{n} \in \mathbb{Z}/\mathfrak{m}\mathbb{Z}} \, V_{\mathbb{C},(\mathfrak{n})}^{-1,0} \quad \text{and} \quad \mathrm{Fil}^0 = V_{\mathbb{C}}^{0,-1} = \bigoplus_{\mathfrak{n} \in \mathbb{Z}/\mathfrak{m}\mathbb{Z}} \, V_{\mathbb{C},(\mathfrak{n})}^{0,-1} \, .$$

The involution of  $D_{\mathbb{C}}$  obtained by linear extension of the involution  $d\mapsto \tilde{d}$  exchanges the factors  $\mathbb{C}$  indexed by the classes  $\mathfrak{n}$  and  $-\mathfrak{n}$ . It follows that the perfect pairing  $\tilde{\Phi}\colon Fil^0\times (V_{\mathbb{C}}/Fil^0)\to \mathbb{C}$  restricts to perfect pairings

$$\tilde{\varphi}_n\colon V^{0,-1}_{\mathbb{C},(n)}\times V^{-1,0}_{\mathbb{C},(-n)}\to \mathbb{C}\,.$$

For  $n \in \mathbb{Z}/m\mathbb{Z}$ , define

$$d_n := \dim_{\mathbb{C}} V_{\mathbb{C}_{\ell}(n)}^{0,-1}$$
.

Note that  $d_{(0 \text{ mod } m)} = 0$ , i.e.,  $V_{\mathbb{C},(0 \text{ mod } m)} = (0)$ , as the  $\mu_m$ -invariant subspace in V is the first homology of the base curve  $\mathbb{P}^1$ , which is zero. We shall see in Proposition 5.9 below how to calculate the  $d_n$  in terms of the given data (m, N, a).

The tangent space  $T_y(Y_M)\subset T_y(\mathfrak{H}_g)$  is the  $\mathbb{C}$ -subspace consisting of those elements  $\beta\in \text{Hom}^{\text{sym}}(\text{Fil}^0,V_\mathbb{C}/\text{Fil}^0)$  that are  $D_\mathbb{C}$ -linear. Any such  $\beta$  can be written as  $\beta=\sum_{}^{}\beta_n$ , where the  $\beta_n\colon V^{0,-1}_{\mathbb{C},(n)}\to V^{-1,0}_{\mathbb{C},(n)}$  are  $\mathbb{C}$ -linear maps that satisfy

$$(5.8) \qquad \bar{\varphi}_n \left( \nu, \beta_{-n}(\nu') \right) = \bar{\varphi}_{-n} \left( \nu', \beta_n(\nu) \right) \quad \text{for all } \nu \in V_{\mathbb{C}, (n)}^{0, -1} \text{ and } \nu' \in V_{\mathbb{C}, (-n)}^{0, -1}.$$

If  $n \not\equiv -n \pmod m$ , this last condition gives a duality between  $\beta_{-n}$  and  $\beta_n$ ; this means the linear map  $\beta_n$  can be chosen arbitrarily and  $\beta_{-n}$  is determined by  $\beta_n$ . The situation is different if  $n \equiv -n \pmod m$ . Of course, this only occurs (with  $n \not\equiv 0$ ) if m = 2k is even. In this case we have a perfect pairing  $\bar{\varphi}_k \colon V^{0,-1}_{\mathbb{C},(k)} \times V^{-1,0}_{\mathbb{C},(k)} \to \mathbb{C}$ , and (5.8) gives

$$\begin{split} \beta_k &\in \text{Hom}^{\text{sym}}\big(V^{0,-1}_{\mathbb{C},(k)},V^{-1,0}_{\mathbb{C},(k)}\big) \\ &:= \left\{\beta \colon V^{0,-1}_{\mathbb{C},(k)} \to V^{-1,0}_{\mathbb{C},(k)} \;\middle|\; \bar{\varphi}_k(\nu,\beta_k(\nu')) = \bar{\varphi}_k(\nu',\beta_k(\nu)) \text{ for all } \nu,\nu' \in V^{0,-1}_{\mathbb{C},(k)} \right\}. \end{split}$$

(Cf. (3.3).) We find that the dimension of  $T_{y}(Y_{M})$  equals

$$\sum_{\substack{\pm n \in (\mathbb{Z}/m\mathbb{Z})/\{\pm 1\} \\ 2n \neq 0 \pmod{m}}} d_{-n} d_n + \begin{cases} \frac{d_k \cdot \left(d_k + 1\right)}{2} & \text{if } m = 2k \text{ is even;} \\ 0 & \text{if } m \text{ is odd.} \end{cases}$$

As the final step in the calculation we need to calculate the dimensions  $d_n$  in terms of the given triple (m, N, a). The result is as follows.

**Proposition 5.9** (Hurwitz, Chevalley-Weil). The dimensions  $d_n := \dim_{\mathbb{C}} V_{\mathbb{C},(n)}^{0,-1}$  are given by  $d_n = 0$  if  $n \equiv 0 \pmod{m}$  and

(5.10) 
$$d_n = -1 + \sum_{i=1}^N \left\langle \frac{-na_i}{m} \right\rangle \quad \text{if } n \not\equiv 0 \pmod{m},$$

where  $\langle x \rangle = x - |x|$  denotes the fractional part of a number x.

We note that  $V_{\mathbb{C}}^{0,-1}$  is naturally isomorphic to the space  $H^0(C_b,\Omega^1)$  of global differentials on the curve. The given formula is then a special case of a classical result by Chevalley and Weil about the structure of  $H^0(C_b,\Omega^1)$  as a representation of the Galois group  $\mu_m$ , which in the cyclic case is already due to Hurwitz. See [52] Section 3 for a modern proof. Another proof, using the holomorphic Lefschetz formula, can be found in [75], Lemma 1.6b.

Putting everything together, the dimension of  $S(\mu_{\mathfrak{m}})$  is given by the following result.

**Proposition 5.11.** Consider a triple (m, N, a) as in subsection 5.1. Then the dimension of the special subvariety  $S(\mu_m)$  that contains Z(m, N, a) is given by

$$dim\,S(\mu_m) = \sum\;d_{-n}d_n\; + \begin{cases} \frac{d_k\cdot\left(d_k+1\right)}{2} & \text{if } m=2k \text{ is even;}\\ 0 & \text{if } m \text{ is odd,} \end{cases}$$

where the sum runs over the pairs  $\pm n$  in  $\mathbb{Z}/m\mathbb{Z}$  with  $2n \not\equiv 0 \pmod{m}$ , and where the  $d_n$  are given by (5.10).

Remark 5.12. Instead of using a tangent space computation, we may calculate the dimension of  $S(\mu_m)$  by analyzing the real adjoint group  $M_\mathbb{R}$ ; see Remark 5.7 and [49]. It can be shown that

$$M^{ad}_{\mathbb{R}} \cong \prod PSU(d_n, d_{-n}) \times \begin{cases} PSp_{2d_k, \mathbb{R}} & \text{if } m = 2k \text{ is even;} \\ \{1\} & \text{if } m \text{ is odd,} \end{cases}$$

where the first product runs over the pairs  $\pm n$  in  $\mathbb{Z}/m\mathbb{Z}$  with  $2n \not\equiv 0 \pmod{m}$ .

# 5.3. An inventory of known special subvarieties in the Torelli locus

Now that we have an explicit formula for the dimension of  $S(\mu_m)$  in terms of the given data, it is easy to check, in each given example, if in the inequality (5.5) we have an equality. Recall that if  $N-3=\dim S(\mu_m)$ , we conclude that  $Z(m,N,\alpha)$  is dense in the special subvariety  $S(\mu_m)\subset A_g$ , in which case it follows that the family of Jacobians  $J\to T$  (as in subsection 5.1) contains infinitely many different Jacobians of CM type.

In order to illustrate how well this works, let us redo Example 5.1. We have (m, N, a) = (5,4, (1,1,1,2)). The Hurwitz-Chevalley-Weil formula gives

$$d_1 = -1 + 3 \cdot \left\langle \frac{-1}{5} \right\rangle + \left\langle \frac{-2}{5} \right\rangle = 2$$
,

and in a similar way we find

$$d_2 = 1$$
,  $d_3 = 1$ ,  $d_4 = 0$ ,

which agrees with the basis of regular differentials we have found. Proposition 5.11 gives dim  $S(\mu_m)=1=N-3$ , and as before we conclude that  $Z(m,N,\alpha)$  is a special subvariety.

Using a computer it is not hard to do a systematic search for triples (m, N, a) with  $N-3=\dim S(\mu_m)$ . Up to equivalence (as defined in Section 5.1), one finds twenty such triples. They are listed in Table 1. Moreover, it was proven by Rohde in [74] that these are the only triples, up to equivalence, for which  $N-3=\dim S(\mu_m)$ .

# 5.4. Excluding further examples

In the discussion so far, the argument is based on the fact that  $Z(\mathfrak{m},N,\mathfrak{a})\subset A_g$  is visibly contained in the special subvariety  $S(\mu_\mathfrak{m})$ , and we look for examples where the two have the same dimension. If in some given case we find that dim  $Z(\mathfrak{m},N,\mathfrak{a})=$ 

	genus	m	N	a
(1)	1	2	4	(1,1,1,1)
(2)	2	2	6	(1,1,1,1,1,1)
(3)	2	3	4	(1,1,2,2)
(4)	2	4	4	(1,2,2,3)
(5)	2	6	4	(2,3,3,4)
(6)	3	3	5	(1,1,1,1,2)
(7)	3	4	4	(1,1,1,1)
(8)	3	4	5	(1,1,2,2,2)
(9)	3	6	4	(1,3,4,4)
(10)	4	3	6	(1,1,1,1,1,1)

Table 1. Examples of special subvarieties in the Torelli locus

	genus	m	N	а
(11)	4	5	4	(1,3,3,3)
(12)	4	6	4	(1,1,1,3)
(13)	4	6	4	(1,1,2,2)
(14)	4	6	5	(2,2,2,3,3)
(15)	5	8	4	(2,4,5,5)
(16)	6	5	5	(2,2,2,2,2)
(17)	6	7	4	(2,4,4,4)
(18)	6	10	4	(3,5,6,6)
(19)	7	9	4	(3,5,5,5)
(20)	7	12	4	(4,6,7,7)

 $N-3 < \dim S(\mu_m)$ , this does not, a priori, imply that  $Z(m,N,\alpha)$  is not special. Put differently, in addition to the endomorphisms in  $\mathbb{Z}[\mu_m]$ , there might be Hodge classes in our family of Jacobians  $J \to T$  that we just happen not to see. Even in individual examples, it is usually not so easy to exclude this.

One method to do this was given by de Jong and Noot in [35], Section 5; they prove there that for m > 7 not divisible by 3 the family of curves given by  $y^m = x(x-1)(x-t)$ , which in our language corresponds to the triple  $(m, N, \alpha) = (m,4,(1,1,1,m-3))$ , does *not* give a special subvariety. The method is based on results of Dwork and Ogus in [25].

Extending this to arbitrary families, it was proven in [49] that the twenty examples we have found are the only ones such that the image  $Z(\mathfrak{m},N,\mathfrak{a})\subset A_g$  is a special subvariety.

**Theorem 5.13.** Consider data (m, N, a) as in subsection 5.1. Then  $Z(m, N, a) \subset A_g$  is a special subvariety if and only if (m, N, a) is equivalent to one of the twenty triples listed in Table 1.

Remark 5.14. Examples (6), (8), (10), (11), (16) and (17) in Table 1 were given by Shimura in [77]. Examples (10), (11) and (17) were given, in a language that is closer to the present paper, by de Jong and Noot in [35]; they also explained the relevance of such examples for Coleman's conjecture. (The fact that these examples already occurred in [77] was recognized only later. In connection with this, note that [77] appeared more than twenty years before Coleman stated his conjecture.)

In retrospect, it is surprising that the complete list of examples was obtained only recently. Example (19) was found by one of us in 2003; see [65]. All twenty

examples were found by Rohde in [74] (Example (2) is somewhat hidden there, but see op. cit. Corollary 5.5.2) and independently by one of us, with the help of a small computer program. See 6.7 below for some further examples, coming from families of covers with a non-cyclic Galois group.

It should be mentioned that there is some connection between these examples and the theory of Deligne and Mostow in [23], [53]; see also Looijenga's overview paper [40]. The relation is that, in the setting of subsection 5.1, the family of Jacobians  $J \to T$  has a "new part" (cf. Example 5.6), and that the monodromy of the corresponding VHS can be described as the monodromy on a space of hypergeometric functions. In this context there is an easy criterion for the arithmeticity of the monodromy group; see [23], Proposition 12.7 or [40], Theorem 4.3. As far as we know there is, however, no easy way to obtain from this, and the resulting tables in [23] and [53], a classification result such as in Theorem 5.13. Apart from the fact that the Deligne-Mostow arithmeticity criterion only applies under some condition on the local monodromy elements (condition (INT) of [23], p. 25) that in our situation is not always satisfied, it only gives us information about certain direct summands of the VHS that we want to study, and as already explained in Remark 3.16 we in general need more.

# 6. Some questions

In this section, with the exception of subsections 6.2 and 6.3, the base field is  $\mathbb{C}$ . Most questions below could also be formulated over an algebraic closure of  $\mathbb{Q}$ .

**Question 6.1.** How do we construct curves for which the Jacobian is a CM abelian variety? If we have a special subvariety in  $T_g$  that intersects  $T_g^{\circ}$ , the existence of CM Jacobians follows from property (b) in subsection 3.4. Note that in such cases we typically have no control over which fibers in our family are the CM fibers; cf. Remark 5.2.

On the other hand, we could look for curves that have many automorphisms. For instance, the Fermat curves  $X^n + Y^n + Z^n = 0$  in  $\mathbb{P}^2$  have Jacobians of CM type. Similarly, cyclic covers of  $\mathbb{P}^1$  with 3 branch points have CM Jacobians. For a given  $g \geqslant 2$  there are only finitely many such covers of genus g, however. Further such examples are given in [66], 5.15.

In [66], a curve C is called a curve with many automorphisms if the deformation functor of the pair (C, Aut(C)) is a 0-dimensional scheme. In many cases such a curve has a CM Jacobian.

These are the only methods known to us to construct, or to prove the existence of, CM Jacobians.

**Question 6.2.** Do we know the existence of, or can we construct, a curve C of genus at least 4 such that  $Aut(C) = \{id\}$  and such that the Jacobian of C is an abelian variety of CM type?

**Question 6.3.** Does there exist g > 3 and a special subvariety  $Z \subset A_g$  contained in the Torelli locus  $T_g$  such that the geometric generic fiber over T gives an abelian variety with endomorphism ring equal to  $\mathbb{Z}$ ? We do not know a single example.

**Remark 6.4.** In 4.2 we have seen an expectation about the (non-)existence of special subvarieties in the Torelli locus. In order to make the question more precise, consider, for  $g \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}$  the set

$$\mathfrak{ST}(g) := \left\{ \text{special subvarieties } Z \subset \mathsf{T}_g \text{ with } \dim(\mathsf{Z}) > 0 \text{ and } \mathsf{Z} \cap \mathsf{T}_\mathfrak{q}^\circ \neq \emptyset \right\}$$

of special subvarieties of positive dimension, contained in the Torelli locus, and not fully contained in the boundary of  $T_g$ . The expectation is that for  $g \gg 0$  we have  $ST(g) = \emptyset$ ; see 4.2.

We would like to classify all pairs (g, Z) with  $Z \in ST(g)$ . For g = 2 and g = 3 we have  $T_g = A_g$  and in this case every special subvariety of  $A_g$  is of PEL type; see [51]. Hence in this case we can classify all pairs (g, Z), up to Hecke translation, by listing all possible endomorphism algebras. We know that  $ST(g) \neq \emptyset$  for all g < 8. However, already for g = 4 we do not have a good description of ST(4). It seems very difficult to describe ST(g) for arbitrary g.

# 6.1. Non-PEL Shimura curves for q = 4

In [54], § 4, Mumford shows there exist 1-dimensional special subvarieties  $Z \subset A_4$  that are not of PEL type. The abelian variety corresponding to the geometric generic fiber of Z has endomorphism algebra  $\mathbb{Z}$ . The curves Z are complete. Note that  $\mathsf{T}_4 \subset \mathsf{A}_4$  is a closed subvariety of codimension one, which by a result of Igusa [34] is ample as a divisor. Hence we see that  $\mathsf{Z} \cap \mathsf{T}_4 \neq \emptyset$ .

**Question 6.5.** Is there a "Mumford curve"  $Z \subset A_4$  that is contained in  $T_4$ ?

If  $Z \subset A_4$  is a 1-dimensional special subvariety of the type constructed by Mumford, the abelian variety corresponding to the geometric generic point of Z has endomorphism ring  $\mathbb{Z}$ ; hence if  $Z \subset T_4$  then Z meets  $T_4^{\circ}$ .

The examples constructed by Mumford, and generalizations thereof, have been studied in detail by Noot in [58] and [59]. In particular, [59], Section 3 contains a detailed analysis of the possible CM points on the special curves  $Z \subset A_4$  constructed by Mumford. In particular, it is shown there that the (geometric) CM fibers are either absolutely simple or are isogenous to a product  $E \times Y$  with E an elliptic curve, Y an abelian threefold, and  $End^0(E)$  isomorphic to a subfield of  $End^0(Y)$ . It might be possible to use this to get some non-trivial information related to the above question. In connection with what was discussed in subsection 4.1, let us note that there are no Weyl type CM fibers in these families.

**Question 6.6.** For which  $g \ge 2$  does there exist a positive dimensional subvariety  $Z \subset T_g$  with  $Z \cap T_g^{\circ} \ne \emptyset$ , such that the abelian variety corresponding with the geometric generic point of Z is isogenous to a product of elliptic curves?

This question was stimulated by results in [39], which say that under more restrictive conditions such a family does not exist for large g.

**Question 6.7.** In Section 5 we have seen examples of special subvarieties  $Z \subset T_g$  with  $Z \cap T_g^{\circ} \neq \emptyset$  arising from families of cyclic covers of  $\mathbb{P}^1$ . Can one obtain further such examples by taking non-cyclic covers, or from a family of covers of another base curve?

To make this more precise, consider a (complete, nonsingular) curve B over  $\mathbb C$  of genus h, and let  $\mathfrak G$  be a finite group. Define a group  $\Pi = \Pi(h, N)$  by

$$\Pi := \langle \alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_h, \beta_1, \dots, \beta_h, \gamma_1, \dots, \gamma_N \mid [\alpha_1, \beta_1] \cdots [\alpha_h, \beta_h] \cdot \gamma_1 \cdots \gamma_N = 1 \rangle.$$

Given  $t_1, \ldots, t_N$  in B, fix a presentation

$$\pi_1(B\setminus\{t_1,\ldots,t_N\})\stackrel{\sim}{\to}\Pi$$
,

and fix a surjective homomorphism  $\psi\colon\Pi\twoheadrightarrow \mathcal{G}$  such that  $\psi(\gamma_i)\neq 1$  for all  $i=1,\ldots,N$ . Correspondingly, we have a Galois cover  $C_t\to B$  with group  $\mathcal{G}$ , branch points  $t_1,\ldots,t_N$  in B, and with local monodromy about  $t_i$  given by the element  $\psi(\gamma_i)$ . Varying the branch points, we get a family of curves  $C\to T$ , for some open  $T\subset B^N$ . The corresponding family of Jacobians gives a moduli map  $T\to A_g$ ; denote the image by  $Z^\circ$ , with Zariski closure  $Z\subset T_g\subset A_g$ . Having set the scene in this way we can ask for which choices of the data involved Z is a special subvariety of positive dimension.

- (a) Are there examples with non-cyclic Galois group such that  $Z \subset A_g$  is a special subvariety of positive dimension?
- (b) Are there examples where B is not a rational curve, and such that  $Z \subset A_g$  is a special subvariety of positive dimension? Note that if Z is special, the Jacobian of B is a CM abelian variety.

As for question (a), we do have some examples that are obtained from families of covers of  $\mathbb{P}^1$  with a non-cyclic abelian Galois groups. The examples presently known to us are listed in Table 2. In these examples we consider families of covers of  $\mathbb{P}^1$  with Galois group of the form  $A=(\mathbb{Z}/m_1\mathbb{Z})\times(\mathbb{Z}/m_2\mathbb{Z})$  with  $m_1|m_2$ , with  $N\geqslant 4$  branch points, and with local monodromy about the branch points  $t_i$  given by an N-tuple  $\alpha=(\alpha_1,\ldots,\alpha_N)$  in  $A^N$ . This gives rise to an (N-3)-dimensional closed irreducible subvariety  $Z(m,N,\alpha)$ , where now  $m=(m_1,m_2)$ . For the Jacobians  $J_t$  in our family we have a (generally non-injective) homomorphism  $\mathbb{Q}[A]\to \operatorname{End}^0(J_t)$ ; this defines a special subvariety  $S(m)\subset A_g$  of PEL type with  $Z(m,N,\alpha)\subseteq S(m)$ . We calculate  $\dim \big(S(m)\big)$ , and if this dimension equals N-3 then we conclude that  $Z(m,N,\alpha)$  is special.

Let us give some further details concerning Example (24). In this case the covers  $C_t \to \mathbb{P}^1$  are branched over 4 points  $t_1, \ldots, t_4$ . There are 6 points above  $t_1$ , each with ramification index e=2. Likewise, there are 2 points above  $t_2$ , both with e=6, there are 4 points above  $t_3$ , each with e=3, and finally there are 6 points above  $t_4$ , each

	genus	group	N	a
(21)	1	$(\mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}) \times (\mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z})$	4	((1,0), (1,0), (0,1), (0,1))
(22)	3	$(\mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}) \times (\mathbb{Z}/4\mathbb{Z})$	4	((1,0), (1,1), (0,1), (0,2))
(23)	3	$(\mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z})  imes (\mathbb{Z}/4\mathbb{Z})$	4	((1,0), (1,2), (0,1), (0,1))
(24)	4	$(\mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}) \times (\mathbb{Z}/6\mathbb{Z})$	4	((1,0), (1,1), (0,2), (0,3))
(25)	4	$(\mathbb{Z}/3\mathbb{Z}) \times (\mathbb{Z}/3\mathbb{Z})$	4	((1,0), (1,0), (1,2), (0,1))
(26)	2	$(\mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}) \times (\mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z})$	5	((1,0), (1,0), (1,0), (1,1), (0,1))
(27)	3	$(\mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}) \times (\mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z})$	6	((1,0),(1,0),(1,1),(1,1),(0,1),(0,1))

**Table 2.** Examples of special subvarieties in the Torelli locus (continued)

with e=2. The Hurwitz formula gives  $\chi=-24+6\cdot 1+2\cdot 5+4\cdot 2+6\cdot 1=6$ , so g=4. The group ring Q[A], with  $A=(\mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z})\times(\mathbb{Z}/6\mathbb{Z})$ , is isomorphic to  $\mathbb{Q}^4\times\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_3)^4$ . Accordingly, the Jacobians  $J_t$  split, up to isogeny, as a product of eight factors. The simple factors of  $\mathbb{Q}[A]$  correspond with the  $Gal(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}/\mathbb{Q})$ -orbits in  $Hom(A,\overline{\mathbb{Q}}^*)$ , which in this example may be identified with the set of complex characters  $\rho\in Hom(A,\mathbb{C}^*)$  taken modulo complex conjugation. Given a complex character  $\rho\colon A\to\mathbb{C}^*$ , the corresponding factor  $J_{\rho,t}$  of  $J_t$  can be described as follows. We consider the cover  $\pi_{\rho,t}\colon C_{\rho,t}\to\mathbb{P}^1$  with group  $\rho(A)$ , branched only above the points  $t_i$ , with local monodromy  $\rho(\mathfrak{a}_i)$  about  $t_i$ . Note that  $\rho(\mathfrak{a}_i)$  may be the identity element of  $\rho(A)$ , in which case  $t_i$  is not a branch point of  $\pi_{\rho,t}$ . Also note that  $\pi_{\rho,t}$  is a cyclic cover, which brings us back to the situation considered in Section 4. Then  $J_{\rho,t}$  is the new part of the Jacobian of  $C_{\rho,t}$ . With this description, it is easy to verify that:

- there are five pairs  $(\rho, \overline{\rho})$  for which  $J_{\rho,t} = 0$ ; this includes the four real characters, for which  $\rho = \overline{\rho}$ ,
- there are two pairs  $(\rho, \overline{\rho})$  for which  $J_{\rho,t}$  is an elliptic curve with CM by an order in  $\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_3)$ ,
- there is one pair  $(\rho, \overline{\rho})$  for which  $J_{\rho,t}$  is 2-dimensional, carrying an action by an order in  $\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_3)$ ; varying t these give a family that is isogenous to the family of Jacobians of Example (5) in Table 1.

It follows from this description that the special subvariety  $S(\mathfrak{m})$  containing  $Z(\mathfrak{m},N,\mathfrak{a})$  is 1-dimensional, and therefore  $Z(\mathfrak{m},N,\mathfrak{a})=S(\mathfrak{m})$  is special.

It should be noted that Example (24) is a sub-family of the family given in Example (14). To see this, let  $D_t$  be the quotient of  $C_t$  modulo the action of  $\{1\} \times (\mathbb{Z}/6\mathbb{Z})$ , and factor  $\pi_t \colon C_t \to \mathbb{P}^1$  as

$$C_t \stackrel{q_t}{\longrightarrow} D_t \stackrel{r_t}{\longrightarrow} \mathbb{P}^1 \,.$$

We have  $D_t \cong \mathbb{P}^1$ . The cover  $q_t$  has group  $(\mathbb{Z}/6\mathbb{Z})$  and is branched above five points, namely the unique point  $\tilde{t}_2$  of  $D_t$  above  $t_2$ , the two points  $\tilde{t}_{3,1}$  and  $\tilde{t}_{3,2}$  above  $t_3$ , and the two points  $\tilde{t}_{4,1}$  and  $\tilde{t}_{4,2}$  above  $t_4$ . The local monodromy about these points is given by the 5-tuple (2,2,2,3,3) in  $(\mathbb{Z}/6\mathbb{Z})^5$ , which gives exactly the data of Example (14). The sub-family considered here is given by the constraint that the five branch points on  $D_t \cong \mathbb{P}^1$  do not move freely but form three orbits under the action of  $\mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}$  on  $D_t$ .

# 6.2. The Serre-Tate formal group structure and linearity properties

Let  $\mathfrak{m} \geqslant 3$ . On  $\mathcal{A}_{g,[\mathfrak{m}]}(\mathbb{C})$  we have a metric, obtained from the uniformization by the Siegel space  $\mathfrak{H}_g$ ; see subsection 3.2. In [46] it is proven that an irreducible algebraic subvariety  $Z \subset \mathcal{A}_{g,[\mathfrak{m}]}$  is a special subvariety if and only if Z is totally geodesic and contains at least one special point. This may be viewed as a characterization of special subvarieties in terms of *linearity properties*.

This characterization has a nice arithmetic analogue, by which it was in fact inspired. Recall that if k is a perfect field of characteristic p>0 and  $x\in\mathcal{A}_g(k)$  corresponds to a ppav  $(A,\lambda)$  over k such that A is *ordinary*, the formal completion  $\mathfrak{A}_x$  of  $\mathcal{A}_{g,[m]}$  at the point x has a canonical structure of a formal torus over the ring of Witt vectors W(k); see [37] or [41], Chap. 5. Using this we can again give meaning to the notion of "linearity". Let us elucidate this. Consider a closed irreducible algebraic subvariety  $Z\subset\mathcal{A}_{g,[m],F}$ , where F is a number field. Let  $\mathcal{Z}$  denote the Zariski closure of Z inside  $\mathcal{A}_{g,[m]}$  over  $O_F$ . If some ordinary point x as above lies in  $\mathcal{Z}(k)$ , the formal completion of  $\mathcal{Z}$  at x gives a formal subscheme  $\mathfrak{Z}_x\subset\mathfrak{A}_x$ . It was shown by Noot in [57] that if Z is a special subvariety, the components of the formal subscheme  $\mathfrak{Z}_x\subset\mathfrak{A}_x$  over  $W(\overline{k})$  are translates of formal subtori of  $\mathfrak{A}_x$  over torsion points. At the cost of excluding finitely many primes of  $O_F$  this may be sharpened to the conclusion that the components of the formal subschemes  $\mathfrak{Z}_x$  are formal subtori; see also [47], Theorem 4.2(ii).

The converse of Noot's result was proven in [47]; the result is that if  $Z \subset \mathcal{A}_{g,[m],F}$  is a closed irreducible algebraic subvariety such that for some ordinary point  $x \in \mathcal{Z}(k)$  some component of  $\mathfrak{Z}_x \subset \mathfrak{A}_x$  is a translate of a formal subtorus of  $\mathfrak{A}_x$  over a torsion point, Z is a special subvariety. These results again give a characterization of special subvarieties in terms of linearity properties. It was shown in [46] that the result over  $\mathbb C$  may reformulated in terms of formal group structures, in a way that makes the analogy between the two situations even clearer.

These results lead us to investigate the structure of the Torelli locus  $T_g \subset A_g$  (or its analogue with a level structure) locally near an ordinary point x in characteristic p. The identity section of the formal torus  $\mathfrak{A}_x$  gives a lifting of the ppav  $(A,\lambda)$  over k to a polarized abelian scheme  $(A^{can},\lambda^{can})$  over the ring of Witt vectors W(k). This lifting is called the *Serre-Tate canonical lifting* of  $(A,\lambda)$ . Note, however, that if  $(A,\lambda)$  is the Jacobian of a curve, the canonical lifting  $(A^{can},\lambda^{can})$  over W(k) need not be

a Jacobian; see [25], [67]. This leads to another view on Expectation 4.2. Indeed, suppose we have a special subvariety  $Z \subset T_g$  with  $Z \cap T_g^{\circ} \neq \emptyset$ . Then Z is defined over some number field F, and, with notation as above, we can find ordinary points  $x \in \mathcal{Z}(k)$ , for finite fields k, such that the corresponding ppav  $(A, \lambda)$  is the Jacobian of a curve C/k, and such that the formal completion  $\mathfrak{Z}_x \subset \mathfrak{A}_x$  is a union of formal subtori (or even just a formal subtorus). In this situation, the canonical lifting  $(A^{\operatorname{can}}, \lambda^{\operatorname{can}})$  is again the Jacobian of a curve, which is a highly nontrivial fact. Indeed, the main results of Dwork and Ogus in [25] are based on the observation that in general, already the first-order canonical lifting, over the ring  $W_2(k)$  of Witt vectors of length 2, is no longer a Jacobian.

For the next two questions, let  $m \ge 3$  be an integer, and fix a genus g that is large enough, at least g > 7.

**Question 6.8.** Let  $\mathfrak{T}_{g,[m],\mathbb{Z}}\subset\mathcal{A}_{g,[m],\mathbb{Z}}$  denote the scheme-theoretic image of the Torelli morphism  $\mathfrak{M}_{g,[m]}\to\mathcal{A}_{g,[m]}$  over  $\operatorname{Spec}(\mathbb{Z})$ . Let k be a perfect field of characteristic p>0, and suppose  $x\in \mathfrak{T}_{g,[m],\mathbb{Z}}(k)$  is an ordinary point, i.e., the corresponding abelian variety is ordinary. Is it true that the formal completion  $\mathfrak{T}_x\subset\mathfrak{A}_x$  of  $\mathfrak{T}_{g,[m],\mathbb{Z}}$  at the point x does not contain a formal subscheme  $\mathfrak{Z}$ , flat over W(k), of positive dimension, such that  $\mathfrak{Z}$  is a formal subtorus of  $\mathfrak{A}_x$ ?

A positive answer to this question would confirm Expectation 4.2. It should be noted, however, that what we ask here is stronger than what we need for 4.2. The difference is that in 6.8 we do not require the formal subscheme 3 to be algebraic, i.e., to be the formal completion of an algebraic subvariety of  $\mathcal{A}_{g,[m]}$  passing through the point x. The interesting point, however, is that Question 6.8 only depends on the formal completion of the Torelli locus at a single ordinary point. One might expect that, in terms of the "linear structure" provided by the Serre-Tate structure of a formal torus on  $\mathfrak{A}_x$ , the Torelli locus  $\mathfrak{T}_x \subset \mathfrak{A}_x$  should be highly non-linear.

Over  $\mathbb{C}$  we have a question that is similar in spirit.

**Question 6.9.** Does the Torelli locus  $\mathfrak{T}_{g,[\mathfrak{m}],\mathbb{C}} \subset \mathcal{A}_{g,[\mathfrak{m}],\mathbb{C}}$  contain any totally geodesic subvarieties of positive dimension?

Again this question is stronger than what is needed for Expectation 4.2, as we do not require the totally geodesic subvariety to be algebraic. (In addition we should ask that the subvariety contains at least one CM point.)

Let us mention the paper [42], in which Möller investigates algebraic curves in  $\mathcal{M}_g$  over  $\mathbb{C}$  that are totally geodesic with respect to the Teichmüller metric (these are called Teichmüller curves), such that the image of this curve in  $\mathcal{A}_g$  is a special subvariety. It is shown in [42] that for g=2 and  $g\geqslant 6$  there are no such curves. For g=3 and g=4 there is precisely one example, corresponding to Examples (7) and (12) in Table 1.

#### 6.3. An analogy

We can view the boundary of  $\mathcal{A}_g$  in a compactification as the locus of degenerating abelian varieties, but one can also view, working over  $\mathbb{Z}_p$ , say, the space  $\mathcal{A}_g \otimes \mathbb{F}_p$  as a boundary of  $\mathcal{A}_g \otimes \mathbb{Z}_p$ . In this last case the abelian variety does not degenerate, but the p-structure does change. These two points of view have striking similarities. Often geometric questions are settled by studying properties at the boundary, and then to lift back to the interior of the moduli space considered.

Here we want to draw attention to the analogy between the results in [25] and the results of [30] and [4]. In the first case Dwork and Ogus study ordinary Jacobians in positive characteristic and their Serre-Tate canonical lifts to characteristic zero. In analogy with this, Fresnel and van der Put [30] and Andreatta [4] study liftings of Jacobians of degenerate curves. In both cases the authors show that, for g > 3, these liftings in general do not lie in the Torelli locus. In particular, Andreatta explains in [4] that special subvarieties in  $\mathcal{A}_g$  have a linear structure at the boundary in a toroidal compactification of  $\mathcal{A}_g$ , and he shows that the closure of the Torelli locus is not linear at the boundary.

#### References

- [1] N. A'Campo. Tresses, monodromie et le groupe symplectique. *Comment. Math. Helv.*, **54**, 318–327, 1979.  $\leftarrow$  570
- [2] Y. André. G-functions and geometry. *Aspects of Math.*, E13, Vieweg, Braunschweig, 1989. ← 567
- [3] Y. André. Finitude des couples d'invariants modulaires singuliers sur une courbe algébrique plane non modulaire. *J. reine angew. Math.*, **505**, 203–208, 1998. 

   568
- [4] F. Andreatta. Coleman-Oort's conjecture for degenerate irreducible curves. *Israel J. Math.* **187**, 231–285, 2012. ← 572, 589
- [5] E. Arbarello, M. Cornalba, and Ph. Griffiths. Geometry of algebraic curves, Vol. II. *Grundlehren der math. Wissenschaften*, **268**, Springer, 2011. ← 570
- [6] M. Bainbridge and M. Möller. The locus of real multiplication and the Schottky locus. To appear in the *J. Reine Angew. Math.* http://dx.doi.org/10.1515/crelle-2012-0019. ← 572
- [7] A. Beauville. Le problème de Schottky et la conjecture de Novikov, in: Séminaire Bourbaki, année 1986−87, Exposé 675. *Astérisque*, **152−153**, 101−112, 1987. ← 574
- [8] L. Caporaso and F. Viviani. Torelli theorem for stable curves. *J. European Math. Soc.*, **13**, 1289–1329, 2011. ← 555
- [9] P. Cartier. Dualité des variétés abéliennes. Séminaire Bourbaki, année 1957–58, Exposé 164. ← 552
- [10] P. Cartier. Isogenies and duality of abelian varieties. *Ann. of Math.* (2), 71, 315-351, 1960.  $\leftarrow 552$

- [11] E. Cattani, P. Deligne, and A. Kaplan. On the locus of Hodge classes. *J. American Math. Soc.*, **8**, 483–506, 1995. ← 560
- [12] C.-L. Chai. Compactification of Siegel moduli schemes. *London Math. Soc. Lecture Note Series*, **107**, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1985. ← 552
- [13] C.-L. Chai and F. Oort. Abelian varieties isogenous to a Jacobian. *Ann. of Math.* **176**, 589–635, 2012.  $\leftarrow$  570
- [14] C. Ciliberto and G. van der Geer. Subvarieties of the moduli space of curves parametrizing Jacobians with nontrivial endomorphisms. *Amer. J. Math.*, **114**, 551-570, 1992.  $\leftarrow 572$ , 573
- [15] C. Ciliberto, G. van der Geer, and G. M. Teixidor i Bigas. On the number of parameters of curves whose Jacobians possess nontrivial endomorphisms. *J. Algebraic Geom.*, 1, 215–229, 1992. ← 572
- [16] R. Coleman. Torsion points on curves, in: Galois representations and arithmetic algebraic geometry, 235-247. (*Y. Ihara, ed.*) *Adv. Studies Pure Math.*, **12**, North-Holland, Amsterdam, 1987. ← 569
- [17] O. Debarre. The Schottky problem: an update, in: Current topics in complex algebraic geometry (Berkeley, CA, 1992/93), 57–64. (H. Clemens and J. Kollár, eds.) Math. Sci. Res. Inst. Publ., 28, Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 1995. 

   574
- [18] P. Deligne. Théorie de Hodge. II. Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math., 40, 5–57, 1971. ← 555
- [19] P. Deligne. Travaux de Shimura, in: Séminaire Bourbaki, année 1970–71, Exposé 389, 123–165. Lecture Notes in Math., 244, Springer, Berlin, 1971. ← 551, 565, 567
- [20] P. Deligne. La conjecture de Weil pour les surfaces K3. *Inventiones Math.*, 15, 206-226, 1972.  $\leftarrow 570$
- [21] P. Deligne. Variétés de Shimura: interprétation modulaire, et techniques de construction de modèles canoniques, in: Automorphic forms, representations, and L-functions; Part 2, 247–289. (A. Borel, W. Casselman, eds.) Proc. of Symposia in Pure Math., 33, American Math. Soc., Providence, R.I., 1979. ← 551, 561
- [22] P. Deligne. Hodge cycles on abelian varieties. (Notes by J. Milne.) in: Hodge cycles, motives, and Shimura varieties, 9−100. *Lecture Notes in Math.*, **900**, Springer, Berlin-New York, 1982. ← 556, 558
- [23] P. Deligne and G. Mostow. Monodromy of hypergeometric functions and nonlattice integral monodromy. *Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math.*, **63**, 5−89, 1986. ← 583
- [24] P. Deligne and D. Mumford. The irreducibility of the space of curves of given genus. *Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math.*, **36**, 75−109, 1969. ← 554
- [25] B. Dwork and A. Ogus. Canonical liftings of Jacobians. *Compositio Math.*, **58**, 111-131, 1986.  $\leftarrow$  582, 588, 589
- [26] B. Edixhoven and A. Yafaev. Subvarieties of Shimura varieties. *Ann. of Math.* (2), 157, 621–645, 2003.  $\leftarrow$  568

- [27] G. Faltings. Arithmetische Kompaktifizierung des Modulraums der abelschen Varietäten, in: Arbeitstagung Bonn 1984, 321–383. (F. Hirzebruch et al., eds.) Lecture Notes in Math. 1111, Springer, Berlin, 1985. ← 552
- [28] G. Faltings and C.-L. Chai. Degeneration of abelian varieties. *Ergebnisse der Math. und ihrer Grenzgebiete* (3), 22, Springer, Berlin, 1990. ← 552, 554
- [29] B. Farb and H. Masur. Superrigidity and mapping class groups. *Topology*, 37, 1169-1176, 1998.  $\leftarrow 572$
- [30] J. Fresnel and M. van der Put. Uniformisation de variétés de Jacobi et déformations de courbes. *Ann. Fac. Sci. Toulouse Math.* (6), 3, 363–386, 1994. ← 589
- [31] G. van der Geer. The Schottky problem, in: Arbeitstagung Bonn 1984; pp. 385–406. (F. Hirzebruch et al., eds.) Lecture Notes in Math., 1111, Springer, Berlin, 1985. ← 574
- [32] R. Hain. Locally symmetric families of curves and Jacobians, in: Moduli of curves and abelian varieties, 91–108. (*C. Faber, E. Looijenga, eds.*) Aspects of *Math.*, E33, Vieweg, Braunschweig, 1999. ← 552, 571, 572
- [33] S. Helgason.Differential geometry, Lie groups, and symmetric spaces. *Pure and Applied Mathematics*, **80**, Academic Press, Inc., New York-London, 1978. ← 578
- [34] J. Igusa. On the irreducibility of Schottky's divisor. *J. Fac. Sci. Univ. Tokyo Sect. IA Math.*, **28**, 531–545, 1981. ← 584
- [35] A. de Jong and R. Noot. Jacobians with complex multiplication, in: Arithmetic algebraic geometry (Texel, 1989), 177–192. (*G. van der Geer et al., eds.*) *Progr. Math.*, **89**, Birkhäuser Boston, Boston, MA, 1991. ← 574, 582
- [36] A. de Jong and S. Zhang. Generic abelian varieties with real multiplication are not Jacobians, in: Diophantine Geometry, 165–172. (U. Zannier, ed.) CRM Series, 4, Scuola Normale Pisa, 2007. ← 572
- [37] N. Katz. Serre-Tate local moduli, in: Algebraic surfaces; pp. 138–202. *Lecture Notes in Math.*, **868**, Springer, Berlin, 1981. ← 587
- [38] B. Klingler and A. Yafaev. The André-Oort conjecture. Preprint 2006. Available at http://www.math.jussieu.fr/~klingler/papers.html. ← 568
- [39] S. Kukulies. On Shimura curves in the Schottky locus. *J. Algebraic Geom.*, 19, 371-397, 2010.  $\leftarrow 585$
- [40] E. Looijenga. Uniformization by Lauricella functions—an overview of the theory of Deligne-Mostow, in: Arithmetic and geometry around hypergeometric functions, 207–244. (*R.-P. Holzapfel et al., eds.*) *Progr. Math.*, **260**, Birkhäuser, Basel, 2007. ← 583
- [41] W. Messing. The crystals associated to Barsotti-Tate groups: with applications to abelian schemes. *Lecture Notes in Math.*, **264**, Springer, 1972.  $\leftarrow$  587
- [42] M. Möller. Shimura- and Teichmüller curves. *J. modern dynamics*, 5, 1−32, 2011. ← 588
- [43] M. Möller, E. Viehweg, and K. Zuo. Special families of curves, of abelian varieties, and of certain minimal manifolds over curves, in: Global aspects of complex

- geometry; pp. 417–450. (F. Catanese et al., eds.) Springer, Berlin, 2006.  $\leftarrow$  572
- [44] M. Möller, E. Viehweg, and K. Zuo. Stability of Hodge bundles and a numerical characterization of Shimura varieties. Preprint, arXiV: /0706.3462. ← 572
- [45] B. Moonen. Special points and linearity properties of Shimura varieties. Ph.D. Thesis, University of Utrecht, 1995.  $\leftarrow$  563
- [46] B. Moonen. Linearity properties of Shimura varieties. I. *J. Algebraic Geom.*, 7, 539–567, 1998.  $\leftarrow$  563, 564, 587
- [47] B. Moonen. Linearity properties of Shimura varieties. II. *Compositio Math.*, **114**, 3–35, 1998. ← 568, 587
- [48] B. Moonen. Models of Shimura varieties in mixed characteristics, in: Galois representations in arithmetic algebraic geometry, 267–350. (A. Scholl, R. Taylor, eds.) London Math. Soc. Lecture Note Series, 254, Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 1998. ← 569
- [49] B. Moonen. Special subvarieties arising from families of cyclic covers of the projective line. *Documenta Math.*, **15**, 793–819, 2010. ← 581, 582
- [50] B. Moonen and Yu. Zarhin. Hodge classes and Tate classes on simple abelian fourfolds. *Duke Math. J.*, 77, 553–581, 1995. ← 558
- [51] B. Moonen and Yu. Zarhin. Hodge classes on abelian varieties of low dimension. *Math. Ann.*, **315**, 711–733, 1999.  $\leftarrow$  558, 584
- [52] I. Morrison and H. Pinkham. Galois Weierstrass points and Hurwitz characters. *Ann. of Math.* (2), 124, 591–625, 1986. ← 580
- [53] G. Mostow. On discontinuous action of monodromy groups on the complex n-ball. *J. American Math. Soc.*, 1, 555–586, 1988. ← 583
- [54] D. Mumford. A note of Shimura's paper "Discontinuous groups and abelian varieties". *Math. Ann.*, **181**, 345–351, 1969. ← 558, 566, 584
- [55] D. Mumford. Abelian varieties. *Tata Institute of Fundamental Research Studies in Math.*, 5, Oxford University Press, London, 1970. ← 573
- [56] M. Nishi. The Frobenius theorem and the duality theorem on an abelian variety. *Mem. Coll. Sc. Kyoto*, **32**, 333–350, 1959. ← 552
- [57] R. Noot. Models of Shimura varieties in mixed characteristic. *J. Algebraic Geom.*, 5, 187-207, 1996.  $\leftarrow 587$
- [58] R. Noot. Abelian varieties with ℓ-adic Galois representation of Mumford's type. *J. reine angew. Math.*, **519**, 155–169, 2000. ← 584
- [59] R. Noot. On Mumford's families of abelian varieties. *J. Pure Appl. Alg.*, 157, 87–106, 2001.  $\leftarrow$  584
- [60] R. Noot. Correspondances de Hecke, action de Galois et la conjecture de André-Oort (d'après Edixhoven et Yafaev), in: Séminaire Bourbaki, année 2004-2005, Exposé 942. Astérisque, 307, 165-197, 2006. ← 568, 569
- [61] F. Oort. Commutative group schemes. *Lecture Notes in Math.*, **15**, Springer, Berlin-New York, 1966. ← 552

- [62] F. Oort. Some questions in algebraic geometry. Unpublished manuscript, June 1995. Available at http://www.math.uu.nl/people/oort/. ← 567
- [63] F. Oort. Canonical liftings and dense sets of CM-points, in: Arithmetic Geometry; pp. 228–234. (F. Catanese, ed.) Symposia Mathematica, 37, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1997. ← 567, 569
- [64] F. Oort. A stratification of a moduli space of polarized abelian varieties, in: Moduli of abelian varieties, 345–416. (*C. Faber, G. van der Geer, F. Oort, eds.*). *Progr. Math.*, **195**, Birkhäuser, Basel, 2001. ← 552
- [65] F. Oort. Special points in Shimura varieties, an introduction. Informal notes. Available at http://www.math.uu.nl/people/oort/. ← 582
- [66] F. Oort. Moduli of abelian varieties in mixed and in positive characteristic, in: Handbook of moduli, Vol. II (Gavril Farkas and Ian Morrison eds.), 75–134. Advanced Lectures in Mathematics, 25, Higher Education Press & International Press, Beijing-Boston, 2012. ← 583
- [67] F. Oort and T. Sekiguchi. The canonical lifting of an ordinary Jacobian variety need not be a Jacobian variety. *J. Math. Soc. Japan*, **38**, 427–437, 1986. ← 588
- [68] F. Oort and J. Steenbrink. The local Torelli problem for algebraic curves, in: Journées de Géométrie Algébrique d'Angers; pp. 157–204. (*A. Beauville, ed.*) Sijthoff & Noordhoff, Alphen aan den Rijn–Germantown, Md., 1980. ← 555
- [69] C. Peters and J. Steenbrink. Mixed Hodge structures. *Ergebnisse der Mathematik und ihrer Grenzgebiete*, 3. Folge, 52, Springer, Berlin, 2008. ← 555
- [70] J. Pila. O-minimality and the André-Oort conjecture for  $\mathbb{C}^n$ . *Ann. of Math.* (2), 173, 1779–1840, 2011.  $\leftarrow$  568
- [71] R. Pink and D. Rössler. On Hrushovski's proof of the Manin-Mumford conjecture, in: Proceedings of the International Congress of Mathematicians (Beijing, 2002); Vol. I, 539–546. (Tatsien Li, ed.), Higher Education Press, Beijing, 2002. ← 569
- [72] M. Raynaud. Courbes sur une variété abélienne et points de torsion. *Inventiones Math.*, 71, 207–233, 1983.  $\leftarrow$  569
- [73] M. Raynaud. Sous-variétés d'une variété abélienne et points de torsion, in: Arithmetic and geometry; Vol. I, 327–352. (M. Artin, J. Tate, eds.) Progr. Math., 35, Birkhäuser Boston, Boston, MA, 1983. ← 569
- [74] J. Rohde. Cyclic coverings, Calabi-Yau manifolds and complex multiplication. *Lecture Notes in Math.*, **1975**, Springer, Berlin, 2009. ← 581, 583
- [75] C. Schoen. Hodge classes on self-products of a variety with an automorphism. *Compositio Math.*, **65**, 3–32, 1988. ← 580
- [76] G. Shimura. On analytic families of polarized abelian varieties and automorphic functions. *Ann. of Math.* (2), 78, 149–193, 1963. ← 573, 575
- [77] G. Shimura. On purely transcendental fields automorphic functions of several variable. *Osaka J. Math.*, 1, 1–14, 1964. ← 574, 582
- [78] T. Springer. Linear algebraic groups. Second edition. *Progr. Math.*, 9, Birkhäuser Boston, Boston, MA, 1998. ← 566

- [79] E. Ullmo and A. Yafaev. Galois orbits and equidistribution of special subvarieties: towards the André-Oort conjecture. Preprint 2006. arXiV: 1209.0934. ← 568
- [80] E. Viehweg and K. Zuo. A characterization of certain Shimura curves in the moduli stack of abelian varieties. J. Differential Geom., 66, 233–287, 2004. ← 572
- [81] C. Voisin. Hodge loci, in: Handbook of moduli, Vol. III (Gavril Farkas and Ian Morrison eds.), 507–546. *Advanced Lectures in Mathematics*, **26**, Higher Education Press & International Press, Beijing-Boston, 2012. ← 560
- [82] A. Yafaev. On a result of Moonen on the moduli space of principally polarised abelian varieties. *Compositio Math.*, **141**, 1103−1108, 2005. ← 568

University of Amsterdam

E-mail address: bmoonen@uva.nl

University of Utrecht *E-mail address*: f.oort@uu.nl